

University of Tennessee, Knoxville TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

Masters Theses

Graduate School

5-2017

Reducing Wait Time Prediction In Hospital Emergency Room: Lean Analysis Using a Random Forest Model

Gajanan Arha University of Tennessee, Knoxville, garha@vols.utk.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes

🔮 Part of the Operations Research, Systems Engineering and Industrial Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Arha, Gajanan, "Reducing Wait Time Prediction In Hospital Emergency Room: Lean Analysis Using a Random Forest Model. " Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee, 2017. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes/4722

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.



To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a thesis written by Gajanan Arha entitled "Reducing Wait Time Prediction In Hospital Emergency Room: Lean Analysis Using a Random Forest Model." I have examined the final electronic copy of this thesis for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, with a major in Industrial Engineering.

Rapinder S. Sawhney, Major Professor

We have read this thesis and recommend its acceptance:

John E. Kobza, Haileab Hilafu

Accepted for the Council: Dixie L. Thompson

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)



Reducing Wait Time Prediction In Hospital Emergency Room: Lean Analysis Using a Random Forest Model

A Thesis Presented for the

Master of Science

Degree

The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

Gajanan Arha

May 2017



www.manaraa.com

© by Gajanan Arha, 2017 All Rights Reserved.



Dedicated to my life coach, my grandfather - Mool Singh Arha



Acknowledgments

There are many people who were instrumental in my journey of developing this thesis. I begin by acknowledging the incomparable guidance and support of my advisor, Dr. Rapinder Sawhney, throughout my Master's program at the University of Tennessee. I am deeply indebted to him for introducing me to the world of research and for helping me connect and extend academic learnings to the industry. I am also extremely grateful to the thesis committee members Dr. John E. Kobza and Dr. Haileab Hilafu, for reviewing my work regularly and providing me with valuable feedback that has improved the quality of my work immensely.

The completion of the thesis provides me with the opportunity to thank the entire staff of the Parkwest Medical Center ED for their co-operation and contribution towards my research. This thesis is as much a product of your support as it is of my efforts. Special regards to Rick Foster for his encouragement, support and guidance in obtaining the data that is the backbone of my research.

I am thankful to all my fellow graduate students at the Center for Advanced Systems Research and Education (CASRE) for enriching my thesis journey. A very special shout out to Roshanak Akram and Dr. Ninad Pradhan for their sincere contributions and valuable guidance. Thank you Anjushree Bangre, Enrique Macias De Anda, Dhanush Agara Mallesh, Girish Upreti, Vahid Ganji, Jafar Namdar, Vijay Krishnan, Abhishek Chimalapati and Wolday Desta Abrha for investing your time and helping me to get this research project off the ground. Thank you Carla Angelo-Arbogast, for providing me with much needed guidance whenever I needed it.



iv

My friends and their emotional support are the pillars of this thesis. If it weren't for Ujjal Jaggi's never-ending support, I would not have made it to the finish line with so much ease and joy. My sincere thanks also extends to all my friends at Knoxville and UT who enriched my life and made Knoxville a better place to stay by sharing the ups and downs of academia, graduate school and professional obligations. This journey would have been extremely dull without your presence.

I am also extremely grateful to my colleagues at Mayo Clinic who encouraged me to complete this work. My supervisor Tarun Mohan Lal and Ann Thayer were pillars of support and encouragement. They went above and beyond the call of duty to accommodate the demands of this thesis and I am humbled by their giving nature. I also want to sincerely thank my lunch buddies at Mayo: Himakshi, Erin, Vicky, Amie, Steve and Bart for bearing with me and reviving my spirits when I was discouraged. Thank you Gurnoor and Ashish for providing much needed breaks from my studies and helping me to keep things in perspective. Words are ineffective to express my gratitude to Jo Ellen Hamilton, who took care of me as family and provided me with a family atmosphere.

Finally, and most importantly, I would like to thank my grandparents, Mool Singh Arha and Anoop Kanwar for loving me as only grandparents can. I am equally indebted to my parents, Om Prakash Arha and Padamja Arha for their unflinching support and immeasurable love. My sisters Ridhi and Priyanka – I love you. Thank you for all your emotional and moral support during all of the ups and downs of my research. I am grateful to my entire family for standing by my side.



Abstract

Most of the patients visiting emergency departments face long waiting times due to overcrowding which is a major concern across the hospital in the United States. Emergency Department (ED) overcrowding is a common phenomenon across hospitals, which leads to issues for the hospital management, such as increased patient's dissatisfaction and an increase in the number of patients choosing to terminate their ED visit without being attended to by a medical healthcare professional. Patients who have to Leave Without Being Seen (LWBS) by doctors often leads to loss of revenue to hospitals encouraging healthcare professionals to analyze ways to improve operational efficiency and reduce the operational expenses of an emergency department. To keep patients informed of the conditions in the emergency room, recently hospitals have started publishing wait times online. Posted wait times help patients to choose the ED which is least overcrowded thus benefiting patients with shortest waiting time and allowing hospitals to allocate and plan resources appropriately. This requires an accurate and efficient method to model the experienced waiting time for patients visiting an emergency medical services unit.

In this thesis, the author seeks to estimate the waiting time for low acuity patients within an ED setting; using regularized regression methods such as Lasso, Ridge, Elastic Net, SCAD and MCP; along with tree-based regression (Random Forest). For accurately capturing the dynamic state of emergency rooms, queues of patients at various stage of ED is used as candidate predictor variables along with time patient's arrival time to account for diurnal variation. Best waiting time prediction model is selected based on the analysis of historical data from the hospital. Tree-based regression model predicts wait time of



vi

low acuity patients in ED with more accuracy when compared with regularized regression, conventional rolling average, and quantile regression methods. Finally, most influential predictors for predictability of patient wait time are identified for the best performing model.



Table of Contents

1	Introduction		
	1.1	Waiting time (actual Vs perceived)	3
	1.2	Publishing ED wait time	4
	1.3	The issue of left without being seen patients	6
	1.4	Emergency Department process flow	6
	1.5	Wait time metrics in ED	9
	1.6	Wait time for low acuity patients	10
	1.7	Objective	11
	1.8	Organization of thesis	11
2	Lite	erature Review	12
	2.1	Overcrowding in Emergency Department	12
	2.2	Causes of ED crowding	14
	2.3	Impact of ED overcrowding	15
	2.4	Wait time prediction models	16
		2.4.1 Discrete Event Simulation	20
		2.4.2 Queueing Theory	21
		2.4.3 Time Series Analysis	22
		2.4.4 Statistical Methods	23
3	Met	thodology	25
	31	Variable creation	26



viii

		3.1.1	Candidate predictor variables - diurnal parameters	26
		3.1.2	Candidate predictor variables - queueing parameters	29
		3.1.3	Summary	31
	3.2	Model	selection	32
		3.2.1	Regularized regression models	33
		3.2.2	Random Forest	37
		3.2.3	Quantile Regression	38
		3.2.4	Rolling Average	39
	3.3	Model	formulation	40
	3.4	Model	tuning	40
		3.4.1	Tuning Regularized Regression models	41
		3.4.2	Tuning Random Forest models	42
	3.5	Model	Validation	42
4	Cas	e Stud	V	44
т				
т	4.1	Study	setting \ldots	44
т	4.1 4.2	Study Data o	setting	44 45
Т	4.14.24.3	Study Data o Data s	setting	44 45 45
Т	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 	Study Data o Data s Data e	setting	44 45 45 47
Т	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 	Study Data c Data s Data e Result	setting	44 45 45 47 51
Т	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 	Study Data o Data s Data e Result 4.5.1	setting	44 45 45 47 51 51
I	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 	Study Data o Data s Data e Result 4.5.1 4.5.2	setting	 44 45 45 47 51 55
I	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Study Data c Data s Data e Result 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3	setting	 44 45 45 47 51 55 56
I	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 	Study Data c Data s Data e Result 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4	setting	 44 45 47 51 55 56 59
5	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 	Study Data c Data s Data e Result 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4	setting	 44 45 47 51 55 56 59 63
5	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Contemporation	Study Data o Data s Data e Result 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 aclusion Conclu	setting	 44 45 45 47 51 55 56 59 63 63
5	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Cont 5.1 5.2	Study Data c Data s Data e Result 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 clusion Conclu	setting	 44 45 45 47 51 55 56 59 63 64
5	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Cont 5.1 5.2	Study Data c Data s Data e Result 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4 clusion Conclu Future 5.2.1	setting	 44 45 47 51 55 56 59 63 64 64



		5.2.3	Mobile application	65
Bi	Bibliography			66
AĮ	open	dix		85
\mathbf{A}	Eme	ergenc	y Department process flow	86
	A.1	Patien	t flow through ED	86
	A.2	Data f	low through ED	87
Vi	Vita 8			88



List of Tables

3.1	Description of queueing parameters	32
3.2	Summary of candidate predictor variables	32
4.1	EMR data field description	46
4.2	Description of data	50
4.3	Training and test Mean Square Error (MSE) and Root Mean Square Error	
	(RMSE) in minutes for wait time prediction of low acuity patients \ldots .	52
4.4	Error quantiles for test data in mins	57
4.5	Variable importance plot & description for random forest model (top 20	
	estimators)	60
4.6	Test MSE (in Mins) for different set of predictor variables	62



xi

List of Figures

1.1	Emergency department process flow	7
2.1	ED wait times search query over Google trends	18
2.2	Exploratory forecasting methods	19
3.1	Roadmap for developed methodology	25
3.2	Varying volume of People in ED for any given instance of day $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	27
3.3	Varying volume of people in ER at any given day of the week \ldots	28
3.4	Number of people in ED across different months	29
3.5	Time to treatment and number of people in ED	30
3.6	Queuing parameters	31
3.7	Overview of cross validation for time series data	41
3.8	Tuning of Elastic-Net model over training data	42
3.9	Tuning of random forest model over training data	43
4.1	Patients per triage level	48
4.2	Average time to treatment of patients across day $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	49
4.3	Average number of people in ED at a given time of day	49
4.4	Organization of analysis and results section	51
4.5	Training & Test Mean Square Error (MSE) and Root Mean Square Error	
	(RMSE) comparison	53
4.6	Comparison of Rolling Average Vs Elastic-Net	54
4.7	Comparison of Rolling Average Vs Random Forest	55



xii

4.8	Comparison of Elastic-Net Vs Random Forest	56
4.9	Variable importance plot random forest (Top 20 estimators) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	58
A.1	Patient flow through ED	86
A.2	Data flow through ED	87



Chapter 1

Introduction

In the United States, the total healthcare expenditure for 2015 was an aggregate \$3.2 trillion (USD) against total GDP of \$18.037 trillion(USD) (Martin et al., 2016). The two largest contributors to the growing healthcare expenditures were hospital care (\$1.0 trillion USD) and clinical services (\$634.9 billion USD) (Martin et al., 2016). This increase in healthcare spending was fundamental in the introduction of the Hospital Value-Based Purchasing (VBP) program by the Center for Medicare and Medicaid services (CMS). The VBP program reimburses the acute care hospitals on the basis of the quality of care being provided. This is a marked departure from the existing practice of reimbursing hospitals with respect to the volume of patients receiving treatment. Under the program, the CMS measures the performance of a hospital on the basis of specific, pre-established quality criteria including the clinical process of care, patients experience of the care received, the outcome and efficiency (Blumenthal and Jena, 2013). By changing the factors affecting how hospitals are reimbursed, the program encourages hospitals to provide higher quality and efficient care at lower costs. Therefore, one may argue that the VBP program acts as an external motivator that encourages healthcare providers to engage in quality improvement initiatives at competitive costs.

The VBP program integrates economic gains with operational competence thereby creating a financial pressure across all hospital units. Of all the units in any hospital,



its Emergency Department (ED) is arguably the single most crucial unit since it plays a vital role in providing care for the critically injured. EDs serve as the primary point of entry for patients in hospitals across the country (Morganti et al., 2013). In 2013, the total number of ED visits exceeded 130.4 million as compared with only 125.7 million outpatient visits (for Disease Control et al., 2013). Because of the 24/7 operating hours of EDs, there are significant fixed costs and lower profit margins as compared with other departments (Nagasako et al., 2014). The Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act (EMTALA) mandates the provision of appropriate medical care to all, regardless of whether they can afford treatment, thereby affecting the profitability of the emergency units (Zibulewsky, 2001). Under the VBP program, CMS found that in 2013, of the seventeen measures used to evaluate hospitals performance four were related to care received by patients in the hospital's ED (McHugh et al., 2014). Because of the growing role of emergency departments as factors influencing the hospitals access to reimbursements, there is a significant increase in emergency healthcare. Therefore, it is imperative that one understands and interprets how the performance of a hospitals ED is related to a patient's experience of care and the overall quality of care being provided (McHugh et al., 2014).

Madsen et al. (2015) did a systematic review to compile the key performance indicators (KPIs) that are related to ED measurement and divided them into five categories: satisfaction, process, equity, outcome, and structural or organizational measures. The significant quality indicators for the measurement of the efficiency of hospital-based emergency care identified from study consists of patient satisfaction, the level of ED occupancy, the existence or lack of crowding, time to treatment, ED returns and the patients that Left Without Being Seen (LWBS). In the last decade, there has been a compelling increase in the demand for emergency medical services which correlates with closure of EDs across the US, thus leading to increasingly overcrowded ED units and culminating in a longer wait time for treatments in existing EDs (Burt and McCaig, 2006). The EDs level of crowding, staffing and wait times affect the overall comprehensive measure of quality of care. In ED settings quality of care is measured by patient satisfaction, the ease of access to emergency services evaluated on the basis of number of patients left without being seen



2

by a doctor and efficiency which is assessed by prolonged wait times (Carter et al., 2014). Numerous approaches have been attempted with the aim of increasing the influx of patients through the ED system in a timely manner. These approaches include the introduction of fast track services (Nash et al., 2007), in-room registration process (Gorelick et al., 2005), consultation at triage (Terris et al., 2004), development of holding area in ED (Gantt, 2004) and building multi-disciplinary comprehensive teams that include medical professionals from all departments so as to oversee and implement change to varying degrees of success (Wilson and Nguyen, 2004).

The health care industry is service oriented. As such, the waiting time a patient experiences prior to receiving treatment is a fundamental factor that directly influences a patient's satisfaction (Thompson et al., 1996). In overcrowded ED settings, patients often experience lengthy waits prior to treatment by a senior nurse or doctor, which leads to frustration and has a negative effect on the overall patient satisfaction. While waiting for treatment, the lack of information regarding the time to treatment and unexpected delays can be very frustrating for a patient in an already stressful environment like that of the ED. Extensive wait time is a recurring complaint for patient's visiting ERs. It leads to a decrease in the patients sense of control and increases their levels of stress and anxiety (Mowen et al., 1993). To address this, the first priority of the Press Ganey's ED Pulse Report 2008, was to improve the communication with patients about the waiting time and unexpected delays in their treatment.

1.1 Waiting time (actual Vs perceived)

Two of the major components involved in managing wait times in EDs are reducing the actual wait time while also keeping patients informed about the expected wait time, since it helps in addressing and fulfilling the psychological needs of patients (Shah et al., 2015). The actual wait time in EDs can be minimized by making improvements in the flow of patients through the department, capacity planning, identifying bottle-necks and creating a flexible service enrollment (F. Brian Boudi, July). Of all the factors involved in patient satisfaction



during an ED visit, effectively informing patients regarding the wait time is singularly crucial. Providing wait time transparency via informing patients of the expected time of waiting before being triaged or treated by a doctor as well as updating wait time delays digitally can be a key factor in how hospitals can better manage patient's expectations. Prolonged waiting times (perceived versus actual) and the level of communication of information are strongly correlated with patient's satisfaction regarding the quality of their treatment services, in the emergency care environment (Soremekun et al., 2011).

Process changes in ED can bring out the operational performance changes affecting average wait times of patient in the system, but in order to realize patients satisfaction one must investigate two paradigms of patient wait time: actual (verifiable) and perceived (subjective) waiting time (Luo et al., 2004). The perceived wait time is markedly different from the actual wait time that a patient experiences. Recent studies that delved into the psychological aspects of waiting finds perceived wait time is a better predictor of customer satisfaction as opposed to the actual waiting time (Nie, 2000). Some of the ways in which a patient's perception of the waiting time can be influenced include the following: [(Katz et al., 1991); (Hui and Zhou, 1996); (Dubé and Schmitt, 1996)]

- Creating a comfortable wait room environment: By ensuring appropriate seating arrangements in the waiting area the atmosphere can become more inviting and comfortable.
- Providing feedback about expected wait time: Communicate about wait times, provide updates and acknowledge for the delays.
- Engaging Patients during the wait: Check waiting area regularly and demonstrate a personalized approach to patient care.

1.2 Publishing ED wait time

The majority of healthcare providers agree that by providing ED wait time information services to the public may improve a patient's experience (Lateef et al., 2011). A majority of



the existing literature supports the argument that improving communication and information delivery is a vital determinant of patient experience in ED setting [Shah et al. (2015); (Press, 2002). However, few studies explore how advanced analytical and predictive modeling techniques can help to communicate expected wait times to each individual patient. Patients find waiting less tedious and are more cheerful when the hospital keeps them informed (LARSON, 1987). The accurate communication of predicted wait time, upon arrival, may help in managing patients expectations before being triaged or seen by a doctor. In response to this, many EDs across the country have started publishing estimated wait times on billboards, websites, and smartphone applications (Xie and Youash, 2011). It also serves as an effective marketing tool by driving patients from other EDs, in nearby geographical location, to less busy EDs, thus generating additional revenue for the hospitals (Weiner, 2013). Publicizing wait times within a specific geographical area encourages patient to choose the least overcrowded ED with the shortest wait time, thereby distributing and balancing the workload over nearby EDs (Dong et al., 2015). However, even with technological innovations, the accuracy of predicted wait time remains a topic of debate due to the dynamic nature of activities involved in the ED and the variations in patient arrival rate (of Emergency Physicians et al., 2012). To improve patient experience in the setting of an ED, hospitals across America have implemented numerous initiatives, apart from the communication of wait time, with varying degrees of success.

- Reducing the time for triage by combining doctors and nurses into teams so as to reduce the time needed for performing the triage, medical evaluation and disposal (Subash et al., 2004).
- Encouraging triage nurses to routinely communicate with patients and explain waiting periods and reasons for delays to patients (Nielsen, 2004).
- Multi-faced intervention using patient education films, communication workshops, as well as a nurse for liasoning with patients; for optimal staff patient community communication (Taylor et al., 2006).



- Accomplishing patient's expectations for treatment and care during ED visit (Trout et al., 2000).
- Expressing empathy, keeping patients busy and educating them as to when primary care should be used instead of EDs (Cohen et al., 2013).
- Improving ED operational efficiency, patient flow and increasing throughput (Cohen et al., 2013).
- Using lean techniques to identify and eliminate non -value added processes in the ED (Chan et al., 2014).

1.3 The issue of left without being seen patients

Informing patients about the predicted wait times on screens, within the hospital, influence patient behavior by increasing tolerance and reducing anxiety thereby lowering the likelihood of them abandoning and balking at getting treatment (Jouini et al., 2011). Hospitals have significant revenue losses when numerous patients leave their premises without being treated. LWBS rates vary greatly across hospitals with a range of 0.1% to 20.3% and a median of 2.6% (Hsia et al., 2011).

According to a report in CEP America (2011), the revenue generated by hospitals is approximately \$500 USD per patient visiting the ER. Assuming 50,000 patients visiting an ER per annum, a LWBS rate of 4% would yield the loss in revenue of approximately \$1 million USD. Emergency department measures on hospital compare, which compare 4,000 Medicare certified hospitals for timely and effective care consists of ED volume, waiting time to see providers, left without being seen volume, wait time to be admitted, wait time for pain medication, time spent in the ED and wait time before imaging results were available for patients with stroke symptoms, hence a high LWBS rate also affects reimbursements under value-based purchasing programs. Aside from the direct financial implications of high LWBS rate for hospitals, there is a tendency for hospitals with high LWBS rates to have a low patient satisfaction score. Dissatisfied patients are more likely to speak negatively about



their experiences to friends and family thereby generating negative publicity and diverting traffic from the hospital, which can lead to further financial losses and a loss of potential future customers (Rowe et al., 2006). The declaration of wait time information in EDs can potentially reduce LWBS rates thereby increasing the quality of ED services.

1.4 Emergency Department process flow

Figure 1.1 depicts the flow of patients through a hospital's emergency department. Patients use multiple logistical channels to enter the ED. These include walk-ins (self-transportation) and via the use of ambulances. When patients arrive in the ED, they are evaluated on the basis of the acuity of their concern and classified according to the triage level. There are a series of standard procedures a patient follows including registration, triage, room/ bed assignment, admission and discharge. To calculate wait time, the overall activities involved in emergency rooms as part of the patient's journey can be divided into different sections (as illustrated in Figure 1.1). For a detailed description of legends refer Appendix A.1.



Figure 1.1: Emergency department process flow

1. Arrival to triage: After arriving to the ED, depending on the severity of the ailment, a patient may be treated immediately or asked to wait before being attended to by a medical healthcare professional for further triage assessment. A non-critical patient registers with the hospital's reception and provides the requested background



information. Based on the Emergency Severity Index (Wuerz et al., 2000), the patient is then assigned a triage level and categorized into a level of acuity from most urgent (level 1) to least urgent (level 5). This process of triage helps in prioritizing and categorizing the patient on the basis of the urgency of medical treatment required and resource commitment. A non-critical patient waits in a hospital's lobby or designated waiting area before being triaged.

- 2. Triage to bed assigned: After being triaged, the patient is guided to a specific area in the ED where a nurse concludes the process of patient registration. Based on the patient's acuity and the availability of beds, a patient is assigned to a stretcher inside the room where they wait for a doctor to attend to them. Patients with severe medical conditions or with a high risk of mortality (Triage levels 1 & 2) are immediately attended to by a doctor.
- 3. Bed assigned to MD: The patient is evaluated by a physician and based on their assessment, subsequent medical tests are conducted and the patient is treated. A consultant is approached if the doctor decides that the patient would require admission or other care services from different departments.
- 4. **MD to a decision:** Patients wait in the ED until their test results are available, should they have required tests. Upon receiving the test results, the physician discusses their diagnosis, recommends follow-up appointments and provides information on the various treatment options available to the patient. The final decision regarding the patients discharge, inpatient admission, or referral to other hospitals is taken once the test results are analyzed. Usually, patients with low acuity concerns leave the ED shortly after a diagnosis. Patients with acute medical conditions requiring admission are directed through processes such as admission request, bed assignment and patient transportation.
- 5. Decision to discharge: Since patients with low acuity leave the ED shortly after diagnosis, they are categorized as visitors. The relevant paperwork for their discharge



is completed and transportation is arranged. After being discharged, the patients physically leave the ED.

To reduce ED overcrowding and to ensure that more patients are treated effectively, many hospitals are establishing Fast track centers in an effort to increase ED throughput for low acuity patients (Sanchez et al., 2006). A fast track center comprises of a small team of physicians, nurse practitioners, technicians and radiology staff that operate during the rush hours of the ED. Patients with non-life threatening injuries (Triage Level 4 & 5) are sent to the fast track after triage. They are then diagnosed quickly and discharged or admitted, on the basis of the diagnosis. This helps to maintain the emergency room and makes it available to higher acuity patients leading to a reduction in the total duration of a patient's stay in the ED.

1.5 Wait time metrics in ED

In an effort to establish quantitative measures and evaluate the performance of the hospital in term of timely and effective care, the CMS requires hospitals to report the following wait time metrics based on historical data (Welch et al., 2011)

- Median time a patient spends in the ED, prior to their admittance to the hospital (Length of Stay LOS).
- Median time a patient spends in the ER, once the doctor has made a decision regarding the patient's admittance and prior to their departure for their inpatient room (Length of Stay LOS).
- Median duration of a patient's visit to the ED before leaving the hospital (Length of Stay LOS).
- Median time a patient spends in the ED before being attended by a healthcare personnel (Time to Treatment).



Based on the typical stages of patient path in ED, which are separated by waiting times and CMS metrics, the wait times in the ED can be categorized as illustrated in figure 1.1 and are described as follows [(Arkun et al., 2010); (Ghanes et al., 2014)]

- **Time to Treatment:** The time from when a patient arrives into the ER unit and their primary consultation with a healthcare professional. It is also referred to as door-to-doctor time.
- Length of Stay (LOS): The time of a patient's journey through the ED calculated from their registration until their discharge, transfer or admission to an internal unit. It is also called "dwell time".

For this study, the research focused specifically on evaluating the "Time to Treatment". The overall duration of a patient's ED stay is highly variable because of the series of waiting, consultation, tests and diagnosis involved when compared with "Time to Treatment". Because of the high variations, the errors in predicting LOS would be significantly large. Moreover, the American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP, 2012) recommends that hospitals publish patient wait time metric for advertisement purposes should specifically focus on their time to treatment. The posted wait times must be accurate and regularly updated (of Emergency Physicians et al., 2012). According to Boudreaux et al. (2000) a patient's satisfaction during a visit to the ED is significantly correlated to the wait time in the treatment area as compared to the actual length of their stay. Hence, patients are more concerned with the wait time to treatment metric than the time to discharge.

1.6 Wait time for low acuity patients

In this research, the researcher lays emphasis on estimating emergency department wait time for low acuity patients primarily because of all the ED visits across the nation, most comprised of patients seeking non-urgent care (Ruger et al., 2004). Moreover, patients with less acute problems and not seeking an immediate care choose an ED with less wait time



even if that requires them to drive to a hospital that is farther, which helps in distributing load among nearby EDs (Dong et al., 2015). A low acuity patient can potentially benefit from wait time information so as to facilitate the decision regarding whether to go to a specific ED or not, choice of ED time of visit. Being aware of the estimated wait time before being attended to by a healthcare professional, while waiting helps in reducing anxiety in low acuity patients when they see high acuity patients requiring urgent care being treated immediately.

The advertisement of the same wait time estimate for patients from all triage levels leads to an underestimation of the wait time for low acuity patients, who are the primary user of the estimate (Ang et al., 2015). In order to address this, hospitals should publish wait times for low acuity patients proceeded by a cautionary note informing them that a change in their wait times is possible due to the prioritization of patients with life-threatening or more serious injuries over them.

1.7 Objective

The objective of this study is to develop a robust statistical model for the estimation of the average expected waiting time experienced by patients in the ED. This will be done on the basis of the parameters of the triage level, the time of day, day of the week, month of the year, occupancy rate and the status of the fast track. The predictive accuracy of the model so developed will be compared against other statistical regression and machine learning techniques. The model developed by the researcher makes use of random forest regression, which is an ensemble learning technique for wait time prediction. The model will help in prioritizing and rank the relevant parameters affecting wait times in EDs. The findings of the study can be potentially useful for hospitals looking to develop strategies for the reduction of wait times and for the improvement of patient satisfaction.



1.8 Organization of thesis

The thesis arrangement is described as follows: Chapter two provides a literature review to understand overcrowding in the emergency department, its impact and causes. Chapter two goes further to discuss types of forecasting techniques used to estimate wait time. The challenges and limitations of forecasting methods are inspected. Chapter three describes stratification of data, the creation of candidate predictor variables, development of wait time model and the validation process to measure accuracy and robustness of the model. Chapter four relates to case study, findings and analysis of results. Chapter five provides conclusion and suggested directions future work can follow.



Chapter 2

Literature Review

This chapter discusses the phenomenon of emergency department overcrowding, its potential indicators, the harmful effects of ED overcrowding and its underlying causes. The relationship between the effects of publishing accurate ED wait times and ED overcrowding is also addressed. The literature pertaining to the various forecasting techniques used for wait time prediction, in queueing systems, with an inclination towards ED management are also examined at length.

2.1 Overcrowding in Emergency Department

Many EDs across the USA deal with the concern of overcrowding, on a regular basis. ED overcrowding primarily occurs due to increasing demand for medical services and a simultaneous lack of healthcare providers. The number of ED visits across the country, for 1999-2013, has increased to 130.4 million from 102.8 million visits annually, i.e. by 27% (for Disease Control et al., 2013). Though one cannot find a formal definition for the phenomenon of ED overcrowding; the American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP) defines overcrowding as: "crowding occurs when the identified need for emergency services exceeds available resources for patient care in the emergency department (ED), hospital, or both" (of Emergency Physicians et al., 2006). There are numerous factors, internal as well as external, that contribute to the occurrence of overcrowding in the emergency departments.



These include inadequate access to hospital beds and a shortage of healthcare professionals (nursing & physician staff) in the ED units (Di Somma et al., 2015). In the USA, EDs serve as the initial access point for a majority of citizens because of a hospital's legal obligation to treat all patients in need, disregarding their ability to pay for the medical services needed. This pressurizes the ER for the treatment of non-urgent medical conditions of people with limited healthcare insurance or plans.

Asplin et al. (2003) introduced a conceptual Input-Throughput-Output model that can be useful for the evaluation of the factors affecting crowding in EDs. In their model, "Input" refers to factors increasing the need for ER services. "Throughput" is dependent on the numerous processes that influences the efficiency and pace which a patient progresses across the various stages of the ED. Similarly, "Output" refers to, and is driven by, the ED staff's ability to discharge or transfer patients to other departments.

Goodacre and Webster (2005) performed a multivariate analysis to determine the potential factors that contributed to the patient wait times. Their results indicate a strong relationship between the time, the day of the week, the month of the visit and the patient's waiting time. The following should be considered as possible input factors that contribute towards patients suffering a longer wait time in the ED. Other factors such as time to physician (Gilligan et al., 2008), volume of patients waiting (Richards et al., 2000), number of patients that were registered (Han et al., 2007), number of patients awaiting triage (Weiss et al., 2002), and the number of patients at each acuity level (Bullard et al., 2009) have also been found to be significant input factors. Some of common throughput indicators that reflect the efficiency of the ED process are the number of patients being treated (Steele and Kiss, 2008), the volume of patients awaiting their test results (Miro et al., 2003), the time to consultation (Bullard et al., 2009) and the length of stay in the ED (Solberg et al., 2003). There is extensive knowledge in the existing literature regarding the effective ways of measuring the factors affecting the output, including how effectively patients are discharged. These factors include the number of patients admitted to other units within the hospital (Abraham et al., 2009), the number of patients waiting to be discharged (Solberg et al., 2003), the time from when the physician requests admission to the time of the beds assignment



(Ospina et al., 2007), the proportion of the ED that is occupied by in-patients (Lucas et al., 2009) and the time or date of boarding (Falvo et al., 2007). Because overcrowding leads to extremely long waiting times for low acuity patients, this research focuses solely on the pre-determined overcrowding factors that are known to be potential factors influencing ED wait times; while developing an accurate ED wait time model (Cowan and Trzeciak, 2004).

2.2 Causes of ED crowding

Overcrowding has been investigated and discussed by many emergency physicians and researchers alike. Due to its importance in the efficient provision of healthcare services as well as its impact on the hospital's performance, numerous studies, expert panels and surveys have been undertaken. This rich body of knowledge, as presented in the existing literature, helps determine the sources of overcrowding and provides a foundation for generating a feasible solution that can effectively target and address its root causes.

ED Overcrowding is a multifactorial problem. However, in the existing emergency medicine literature, an overwhelming number of studies have identified the lack of adequate inpatient beds as the singular most important cause of overcrowding [(Erenler et al., 2014); (Felton et al., 2011); (Hoot and Aronsky, 2008)]. The lack of an adequate number of critical care beds can potentially lead to high acuity patients being stranded in the ED thereby limiting access, and increasing waiting times, for other individuals needing immediate care. Other causes of ED overcrowding that have been determined are - delays in diagnostic imaging and test results [(Boyle et al., 2012); (Li et al., 2015); (Erenler et al., 2014)], understaffing the ED (Derlet et al., 2001), a delay in access to consultants (Derlet et al., 2001) and an increasing volume of high acuity patients (Derlet et al., 2001).

Providing high acuity patients with effective emergency care is the primary goal of every hospital's emergency department. However, a significant proportion of ED visits, in the country is for non-urgent ailments, by patients with low acuity concerns; thereby leading to an increase in ED occupancy. Numerous studies have strived to determine whether low acuity patients contribute to delays in providing healthcare to high acuity patients by



diverting resources from an individual requiring immediate care, and ED overcrowding. In a retrospective study of 4.2 million patients from 110 EDs in Ontario Schull et al. (2007), concluded that patients with low acuity concerns had a negligible impact on the overall ED length of stay and time to treatment of high acuity patients. It is likely because many emergency departments have implemented the development of rapid assessment areas referred to as "Fast-Track". This help to reduce waiting times and length of stay for low acuity patients. The implementation of the fast track encourages quick and efficient treatment of patients with low acuity and non-life- threatening conditions (O'Brien et al., 2006), thereby improving their satisfaction with the services provided by hospitals.

Apart from usage of EDs for non-urgent conditions studies have pointed towards the 1986 federal Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act (EMTALA) requiring that hospitals provide emergency treatment, irrespective of the sufferers ability to pay as a major contributor to ED overcrowding (Monico, 2010). EDs are thus, the "last-resort" for the uninsured and those who are unable to afford other healthcare options. EMTALA has led to an increase in inappropriate ED use crippling USA's emergency health care safety net (Bitterman, 1992).

2.3 Impact of ED overcrowding

Crowding of the EDs places an extreme economic burden on the hospital and is detrimental to patients and healthcare staff by affecting the quality of patient care. When overcrowding occurs, all available beds are likely to be occupied and the overflow of patients needing emergency care is often relegated to the hallways while they wait to receive care. In these conditions, emergency healthcare respondents are unable to provide quality care, which poses a further risk to the patient's wellbeing (Derlet et al., 2014). Excluding the critically ill patients, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) reports the median treatment time as 90 minutes for all patients (McCaig and Albert, 2014). This is a significantly long time for treatment. A prolonged treatment time results in delayed medical



interventions, leave patients in acute pain for longer than necessary; and also threatens their safety (Bond et al., 2007).

In the case of persistently high ED patient traffic, many hospitals tend to divert ambulances to other EDs. This rerouting provides a temporary break in ED traffic to address existing patient load. This redirecting Emergency Medical Services (EMS) and patients to other nearby EDs has more implications than the obvious obvious revenue loss (Litvak et al., 2001). Continuous ambulance diversions can lead to a domino effect, triggering nearby facilities also to divert other ambulance thereby clogging a local health care system (Derlet, 2002). Studies indicate that ambulance diversions can have a significant effect on patient safety (Schull et al., 2003). Most patients who are transported by ambulances require immediate medical care (Pham et al., 2006) and diversions can increase a patients transition time before arrival at the ED (Schull et al., 2003). In addition to patient safety, ambulance diversions also lead to excessive financial losses. A recent study determined that for each hour of diversion, the hospital lost revenue of over \$1,000 from patients arriving via ambulances. Tellingly, encouraging the use of practices to limited ambulance diversions led to an increase of approximately \$2400,000 per annum (McConnell et al., 2006).

During times of ED overcrowding, patients experience prolonged wait times, which leads to patient dissatisfaction and influences their perception of the quality of service provided by the ED (Derlet, 2002). Long ED wait times are strongly co-related with a higher likelihood of a patient becoming unsatisfied and reporting lower ED satisfaction scores (Pines et al., 2008). Frustrated by long wait times, patients are more likely to leave without treatment (Derlet, 2002). Studies have shown that the numbers of left without being seen (LWBS) patient visits accurately indicate the extent of ER overcrowding. Patents who leave without getting treatment are also more likely to require immediate medical intervention at a later date; and have a higher rate of adverse events and worse outcomes as compared to patients who wait to be treated and discharged (Baker et al., 1991). Communicating with patients regarding the estimate wait times before they are treated by a doctor would better manage their expectations and encourage longer waits (Arendt et al., 2003). Hence, in this study,



the researcher focuses on establishing a medium to update patients in real time about their expected wait time status.

2.4 Wait time prediction models

In a service industry, including the medical industry, queues are ubiquitous. Queues develop because of a mismatch between demand and the ability of the system to meet the demand. Researchers have investigated the psychology of waiting and LARSON (1987) describes waiting as a negative experience that causes unhappiness, frustration and anxiety. Scholars have also attempted to discern strategies to reduce the negative effects of the extended wait times. Recently, many service providers have started providing some information related to the expected delay, in providing services, to their customers. For example, Zhang et al. (2013) predicted the future wait time for the customers, on the basis of historical data, at the California Department of Motor Vehicle (DMV) offices, Thiongane et al. (2015) estimated the wait time of customers, on connecting with a customer-care representative in a telephone call center, whereas Simaiakis and Balakrishnan (2015) developed an analytical model to estimate the taxi-out time, at the airport. Similarly, Zhou et al. (2012) predicted the arrival time of public buses on the basis of participatory sensing via mobile phones. Any information regarding wait time can help decrease uncertainty as well as customer's distress [(Bielen and Demoulin, 2007); (Jouini et al., 2011); (Armony and Maglaras, 2004)]. For instance, in a call center model, providing an expected wait time and anticipated delays to arriving customers reduces the rate of abandonment of calls, thereby improving the firm's overall customer satisfaction rates (Yu et al., 2016).

In order to help patients and keep them informed of delays, hospitals are implementing other measures aside from announcements. A growing number of hospitals have started publishing ED wait times on their websites, billboards in their vicinity and developed smartphone applications to keep patients informed. Patients continuously seek information about wait times in EDs, and steady increase can be seen, in the volume of Google queries about "ER or Hospital wait times"; over the past 5 years (Figure 2.1). The factors that



influence a patients decision to visit a specific ED include timely provision of treatment along with convenience, location, health insurance status and institutional preferences (Marco et al., 2010). Dong et al. (2015) did an empirical study that analyzed the historical wait times of 211 U.S. hospitals and concluded that patients are increasingly paying attention to ED wait times and use this information while deciding where to go for treatment.



Note: Numbers represent search interest relative to the highest point on the chart for the given region and time. A value of 100 is the peak popularity for the term. A value of 50 means that the term is half as popular. Likewise, a score of 0 means the term was less than 1% as popular as the peak. Source: (trends.google.com)

Figure 2.1: ED wait times search query over Google trends

Overcrowding is a multifaceted problem, and many solutions have been studied by scholars. Some hospitals have resorted to using queuing models to determine optimal staff allocation, by analyzing the arrival patterns of patients (Green et al., 2006). On the other hand, Batt and Terwiesch (2012) addressed the problem by evaluating the dynamics of an ED. The researcher studied how triage ordered testing helped save time by performing tests parallel to the patient waiting to receive treatment. In another study, Saghafian et al. (2012) uses stochastic models for the management and streamlining of patient flow in the



ED; by separating the patients on the basis of an upfront estimation of their final disposition (admission or discharged). McCusker and Verdon (2006) emphasized on the education of patients regarding when they should choose to visit the ED as opposed to their primary care physician.

Recently, a significant growth of predictive modeling in the medical industry, can be noticed. A primary motivation for the development of prediction models is to understand how historical information can be potentially used so as to make changes to the present operating decisions that can substantially reduce patient's wait times in the ED. Historical data can be used effectively in the determination of seasonal arrival patterns of patients in the ED; and guide operational decision-making so as to reduce ED overcrowding. In the subsequent sections of this chapter, the author explores various forecasting techniques that could be used for the evaluation of wait times of patients in the ED (Figure 2.2). The methods include time series analysis, queuing theory, discrete event simulation as well as numerous statistical methods. The author focuses on statistical methods used in the development of ED wait time prediction models and compares the performance of the conventional rolling average method as well as multiple regression techniques to select the ideal technique for this study. The determination of method's suitability was influenced by considerations of the applicability of methods in the ED environment, the availability of data, predictive performance and technological requirements for implementation of the method.





Figure 2.2: Exploratory forecasting methods

2.4.1 Discrete Event Simulation

Discrete event simulation (DES) is a method of simulating the performance of a real-life process by using probabilistic distribution inputs. It helps in evaluating the behavior of complex systems as an ordered sequence of well-defined events, defined at a specific point in time (Katsaliaki and Mustafee, 2011). Due to the stochastic nature and complex dynamics of events, simulation is increasingly being used in health care services. In an ED environment, simulation allows for the investigation of the interaction between patient flow, ED layout, and the procedure and equipment for developing optimal control strategies.

Duguay and Chetouane (2007) use a simulation model for the estimation of the mean and variance of patient wait time in the ED. A study conducted by Hoot et al. (2009) makes use of a DES model to reduce patient's waiting and improve the entire service delivery system and service throughput in an ED. Similarly, Vass and Szabo (2015) uses a DES model to develop a tool to forecast ED crowding as much as 8 hours, in the future. The tool accurately predicted the waiting time, boarding time, length of stay and number of people waiting in the lobby with varying levels of accuracy for a time period of two to four hours in the future.


Connelly and Bair (2004) used discrete event simulation to investigate ED operations at a system level. The developed model predicted the average service times in the range of 10% of actual values.

Despite the numerous successes of using discrete event simulation for predictive modeling, it is computationally more intensive. Therefore, the results of the simulation may not be readily available for the evaluation of an event that may occur instantaneously. Because of the long running times and multiple iterations of such models, the simulation would not be ideal for estimating the wait time of patients, on their arrival at the ED, where decisions are often made under stress and tight time constraints. The DES forecasting models also requires exhaustive quantities of data to be incorporated to model ED activities and necessitates that each stage of a patient's passage though the ER be modeled. Furthermore, in any simulation, it is difficult to specify the initial probability distributions relating to the arrival of patients or their discharge. Therefore, if the inputs are inaccurate, the output is likely to be useless; leading to a classic case of "Garbage in, garbage out."

2.4.2 Queueing Theory

Queueing theory is a simpler method of modeling ED operations for the estimation of wait times of patients. At a fundamental level, the queueing system for EDs can be represented in three basic components (Eitel et al., 2010)

- Arrivals: Patients arriving at the emergency room with some arrival pattern.
- Waiting in queue: The patients wait before being triaged or seen by a healthcare professional.
- Service: Patients receive the required treatment or consultation from a physician and are either being admitted or discharged from the ED.

This system is designed based on queuing disciplines. The most popular disciplines are Last-In-First-Out (LIFO), First-Come-First-Serve (FCFS) and priority. In the setting of an ED, high acuity patients requiring immediate treatment are seen before low acuity



patients with non-critical ailments. Many queueing models in research deal with the study of overcrowding in EDs. Vass and Szabo (2015) uses a queuing model to understand the patient flow through the ED. The authors highlight the relationship between ED wait times and allocated resources such as beds and physicians. Wiler et al. (2013) forecasted the number of patients who left without being seen (LWBS) on the basis of patient arrivals, treatment time and ED boarding. Reducing the ED patient boarding time was found to be directly associated with a decline in the LWBS rates. Connelly and Bair (2004) performed a hospital-wide study of patient flow using queuing theories and assessed its impact on the ED.

Despite the simplicity of queueing models, it faces several limitations specifically regarding the forecast of ED populations. Firstly, a majority of queuing models operate on simple queueing disciplines (FCFS or LIFO), which are not appropriate for use with the ED population. In such situations, a model based on priority would be more suited and yield better results. However, it must be cautioned that even a priority queuing discipline might not be modeled at a high level of accuracy for the complex and dynamic cases of an ED. In an ED, a more critical person is prioritized over less critical patients and this process is repeated with the entry of every new patient, thereby changing the priority list repeatedly and leading to a new list of priorities. Secondly, a majority of queuing models work under the assumption that no patient would leave the ED without treatment. However, we know that patients leave the ER, against medical advice, due to long wait times and crowding (Kennedy et al., 2008). Finally, most of the queuing models require the assumption of a steady state in the ED processes i.e. no waiting involved when a patient moves from one state to another, which may not be a case during post triage or consultation or when a patient is waiting for test results (Winston and Goldberg, 2004).

2.4.3 Time Series Analysis

Time series analysis is a method of forecasting future information based on historical data. Time series can serve as an effective tool for modeling ED behavior and help in the prediction



of variables related to overcrowding. EDs have used time series analyses to forecast the number of patients visits [(Champion et al., 2007); (Sun et al., 2009)], length of stay (Tandberg and Qualls, 1994), acuity and patient movements in hospitals (Lin, 1989).

Schweigler et al. (2009) uses a seasonal Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average (ARIMA) model to forecast the bed occupancy from four to twelve hours in advance, for three unique ERs. TThe accuracy of the ARIMA model was compared with and found to be more accurate as compared to the hourly historical average and sinusoidal with an Auto Regression (AR) technique. The developed model successfully predicted ED occupancy but was silent on the factors contributing towards ED crowding or the possible solutions for its reduction.

The time series study, as conducted by Tandberg and Qualls (1994), successfully forecasted acuity, length of stay and patient volume. The moving average was found to be most accurate for predicting ED volume and also explained approximately 42% of the variance. The time series model also explained 1% of variation in the LOS or acuity levels of patients visiting the ED. A time series analysis model can effectively capture and predict factors responsible for overcrowding (e.g. patient arrivals, waiting time, Length Of Stay [LOS], boarding time, etc.) through the use of historical data in the long term. But, it fails to take into consideration the short-term variability that creates a surge in the patient's volume arising due to natural disasters or accidents; which is crucial for EDs (Schweigler et al., 2009). Due to these considerations, the researcher did not consider time series analysis as an ideal technique for the establishment of the wait time of patients in EDs.

2.4.4 Statistical Methods

Statistical modelling provides many robust techniques for identifying and describing variables to forecast overcrowding in emergency departments. Statistical methods can be used to model the effects of various independent variables on a certain or collection outcome variables (referred as dependent variables). Numerous statistical methods have been cited in literature related to ED forecasting. Research topics include multiple regression model to estimate



patient arrival in ED (Weiss et al., 2004), quantile regression to study ambulance diversion [(Austin and Schull, 2003); (Schull et al., 2004)], logistic regression to estimate overcrowding (Hoot and Aronsky, 2005), regularization models (ridge and lasso) (Ang et al., 2015) and random forest to predict emergency department visits and Length Of Stay (LOS) using regression (Poole et al., 2016).

With reference to the establishment of wait times of patients in the ED, Poole et al. (2016) used quantile regression to predict the waiting time for individual patient's across all the triage levels up to the 95th percentile. Champion et al. (2007) established the wait time through the use of simplest moving or rolling average based on the arithmetic means on an hourly basis. Wenerstrom (2009) captured the wait time using a linear regression model whereas Ang et al. (2015) established the wait time of low acuity patients via the use of a regularized regression model and fluid model estimators. A regularized regression technique, Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO) uses independent factors such as the time of the day, the day of the week, staffing resources of the ED, the status of the fast track program, and the patient's arrival rates to establish dependent factors like time to treatment and triage to treatment time.

This research aims to estimate the wait time prediction of low acuity patients in the emergency department using regularized regression methods (Ridge, Lasso, Elastic Net, SCAD & MCP) along with tree-based regression (Random Forest). In contrast to the independent factors highlighted in Ang et al. (2015), the researcher will also study additional factors such as - the month of the year, and use random forest regression model. The best wait time prediction model is chosen depending on their ability to utilize the historic data from the hospital. The following chapter on the studied methodology discusses the statistical methods in detail alongside the analytical techniques being used.



Chapter 3

Methodology

ED overcrowding is a major concern across hospitals in the country (Carrus et al., 2010). One of the major components that contribute to the long ED wait times is the door-to-doctor time (Arkun et al., 2010). The term is used to refer to the cumulative time since a patients entry in to the ED to the time of their treatment by the doctor and includes the numerous intervals of waiting that the patient experiences. The numerous factors affecting a patients door-to-doctor time have been studied extensively (Arkun et al., 2010). Studies have focused on individual factors like ED volume (Derlet et al., 2001), level of acuity of patients ailments (Hoot and Aronsky, 2008), staffing considerations of the ED unit (Schneider et al., 2001), ED occupancy rates (Forster et al., 2003), daily patient admissions (Olshaker and Rathlev, 2006) and hospital volume (Yancer et al., 2006).

Figure 3.1 highlights the overall steps followed by the researcher, to build the required predictive model starting from variable creation all the way to model validation. To build a reliable predictive model in determining wait times one should incorporate the queues of patients at various stages of ED along with arrival time of patients as candidate predictor variables to accurately capture the conditions of the ED.

The methodology developed for creating candidate predictor follow the procedure suggested in (Ang et al., 2015). The model predicts the wait time for low acuity patients through the use of regression methods. Because of the large number of candidate predictor





Figure 3.1: Roadmap for developed methodology

variables, the wait time model specifically uses regularized regression techniques along with trees based regression. In order to select the most relevant wait time prediction model, the author compared with the Conventional Rolling Average Method (Dong et al., 2015) as well as Quantile Regression (Sun et al., 2012). These methods are popular in prior studies along with the use of regularized and tree based regression techniques. For the dataset of this study, Random Forest regression gives the best prediction, which is evaluated through the use of Mean Squared Error (MSE) value of test data.

3.1 Variable creation

To effectively model the state of the ED, the right selection of candidate predictor variables is important. To account for the diurnal variation in wait time, the author investigated a set of candidate predictor variables for the time of day along with the day of week and month of the year. Alongside the diurnal set of predictors, the researcher also explored the use of queuing parameters for wait time prediction as used by Armony et al. (2015).

3.1.1 Candidate predictor variables - diurnal parameters

To link the conditions of the ER and the patients arrival times, the researcher attempted to investigate how the arrival pattern of sick people to the ED developed across the day. As is



apparent from the graph in figure 3.2; on any particular day, the number of patients visiting the ED increased gradually from 7 A.M to 7 P.M. To capture this variation, the researcher uses 20 minute intervals to capture 71 binary variables based on the time the patient arrived at the ED.

The binary variable takes value of 0 for all time periods excluding the time period in which the patient registers in the ED. For example, if a patient arrives and registers at 8/1/2014 12:14:00 AM; the first 20-minute period from 12.00- 12.20 AM takes a value of 1 and the remaining intervals take the value 0. In general, if instead of 20 minutes one decides to have a period of m-minutes, then there will be $\{[24X60/m] - 1\}$ binary variables.



Figure 3.2: Varying volume of People in ED for any given instance of day

In order to capture the volatility of the arrival of patients based on the day of the week; the author investigated the arrival of patients in the ED for the entire week. Arkun et al. (2010) cconcluded that the day of the week had a crucial impact on the waiting time for patients prior to them receiving treatment. From the graph in figure 3.3 oone can see a distinct spike in patient numbers in the ED on Monday whereas there are significantly fewer patients on the weekends. The significant increase in patients visiting the ED on Monday is likely due to the increase in the number of sufferers who fails to seek consultancy from their



primary care physician and are then referred to the ED in times of urgency. To account for the day of the week as a candidate predictor variable, the scholar uses 6 binary variables, which take the value of 0 for all days except for the one corresponding to the patient's day of arrival.



Figure 3.3: Varying volume of people in ER at any given day of the week

Among the numerous factors contributing to ED overcrowding, the seasonal outbreak of influenza is a prominent factor (Hoot and Aronsky, 2008). Seasonal influenza is common in the United States throughout the year. However, an analysis of influenza flu activity for the 34-year period of 1982-1983 through 2015-2016 revealed that influenza activity starts in October and continues through May and peaks in February. This encouraged the researcher to examine the number of patient visiting the ED on a monthly basis, so as to determine whether the suggestion of a direct co-relation was justified. From the graph in figure 3.4 one can identify an almost increase in volume of patients visiting the ED for the months of November through April. Thus, allowing the researcher to address the impact of seasonal influenza on the dataset, thereby adding accuracy to the results of the study. To capture the month of the year as a predictor variable, the author uses 11 binary variables, which take the value of 0 for all months excluding the one corresponding to the patient's month of arrival.



29



Figure 3.4: Number of people in ED across different months

The ED of the hospital operates a fast track schedule with dedicated resources in an effort to expedite the treatment of patients with non-urgent complaints. These systems help to reduce the wait time of patients visiting the ED, primarily the low acuity patients. The fast track is designed so as to be able to handle a large influx of patients for periods of diurnal fluctuations or seasonal variations (Considine et al., 2008). In the case of the ED under consideration, from figure 3.5 a side-by-side comparison of the average time to treatment for patients with low acuity concerns to the number of people in the ED revealed that there is a continuous increase in the wait time from 12 PM to 12 AM. For this reason, the fast track is staffed for this time period, for seven days of the week. By staffing the fast track with a mid-level practitioner, a registered nurse and a technician, the hospital makes an active effort to reduce the wait time for low-acuity patients. The researcher uses another binary variable to represent whether the Fast Track was in operation at the time of the patient's registration. The binary variable takes value 1 if the patient registers at any time at any time interval 12 PM to 12 AM, and takes the value of 0 if the time of registration falls outside this window.





Figure 3.5: Time to treatment and number of people in ED

3.1.2 Candidate predictor variables - queueing parameters

The ED, when evaluated from a queuing systems perspective, can be modeled as multiple server systems. These systems vary over time in terms of arrival rates and number of servers as accompanied by customer abandonment. Ibrahim and Whitt (2011) proposed new predictor variables to be able to predict the wait time of customers, in real time entering such systems. They suggested the use of queue-length based predictors to capture the number of customers in different queues. Queue-length based predictors, in dynamic systems, capture the length of queues which a customer sees before entering the system along with their arrival and process rate in the form of number of servers.

Ang et al. (2015) used fluid model estimators in combination with queue-based predictors to determine the workload in EDs for any given moment of time. It captures the queue of patients waiting at various stages of the ED from registration to disposition, for a fixed interval of time throughout the day. The author makes use of the idea proposed by Ang et al. (2015). To capture the queue length based predictors, the ED was divided into various stages, as seen in figure 3.6. The patient flow procedure in the ED starts with their registration and is followed by triage to assess the severity of their condition. Once triaged based on the condition of the patient they are seen by a physician or referred to waiting area for treatment. The time elapsed between the patient's arrival and their treatment is referred to as the wait time to treatment. Once a physician evaluates a patient, a decision is made to admit or discharge.



31



Figure 3.6: Queuing parameters

Based on the triage level, every patient passes through the various stages of ED. The triage levels help in capturing the processing requirements and the kind of resources that need to be used. A patient with a low triage level (1-2) or high acuity needs to be treated immediately thus creating more workload on the ED as compared with a person with high triage level (3-4-5) or low acuity. For patients with high acuity the time lapse between triage and treatment time is minimal, and so a separate count of queue length is calculated. The fast track, with a small team of healthcare practitioners and nurses, helps in prioritizing the treatment of low acuity patient. During the time when the fast track is active, the difference between triage and treatment time for patients with low acuity is relatively small, thereby necessitating the use of a separate count of queue length.

From the time-stamped data, for every 20-minute interval of the dataset, six queue lengths were calculated at various stages of the ED. Since triage level is an important parameter in evaluating the workload imposed by every patient on the ED, the considered queue lengths were further classified by triage level. Therefore, a total of 19 queue length based variables were developed in reference to triage levels and are listed in table 3.1. For example, if a patient arrives and registers on 8/1/2014 at 12:14 AM the queuing indicators from 12.00 - 12.20 AM are linked to the patient's arrival time and so forth.



Queueing Parameter	Triage Level	Variable Count	
Number of patients in ED in total	All	1	
Number of patients who are triaged	Low Aquity	4	
but waiting to receive disposition	Low Acuity		
Number of patients who are registered	High Aquity	2	
but waiting to be treated	Ingli Acuity	3	
Number of patients who are registered	Δ11	1	
but waiting to be triaged		1	
Number of patients who are triaged	Low Acuity	1	
but waiting to be treated	Low Acuity	1	
Number of Patients who have started	Δ11	6	
treatment but waiting to receive disposition		U	

 Table 3.1: Description of queueing parameters

3.1.3 Summary

The emergency department is a dynamic process comprising of a lot of external and internal factors affecting the wait time of patients. Hence, to precisely capture the state of ERs and accurately predict the wait time of patients; a total of 108 candidate predictor variables are created (consisting of queue length and diurnal parameters) as discussed in the previous section. Table 3.2 gives a summary of all the essential independent variables reconstructed from ED patient data.

 Table 3.2:
 Summary of candidate predictor variables

Variable Description(s)	Variable Count	Variable Categorization
Time of day	71	Diurnal parameters
Day of week	6	Diurnal parameters
Month of year	11	Diurnal parameters
Number of patent at various	19	Queueing parameters
stages in ED		
Fast track status	1	Throughput parameters



3.2 Model selection

The prediction of the wait time of patients in any Emergency Department (ED) depends on a large number of predictors. The relationship between patient's wait time before being seen by a doctor, and the candidate predictor variables can be expressed, in its simplest form, by using a multiple linear regression equation. Considering a total of n number of low acuity patients in the ED and p number of candidate predictor variables; one can represent waiting time of patient as:

$$y_i = \beta_0 + \sum_{j=1}^p \beta_j x_{ij} + \epsilon_i , \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
 (3.1)

where y_i is the predicted waiting time for i^{th} low acuity patient and x_{ij} is the j^{th} independent predictor for i^{th} patient. β_j are the regression coefficients and ϵ_i is the error term.

Linear regression equation aims to minimize the square of the distance between the actual and predicted wait times. Linear regression is not being used by the researcher as it is sensitive to outliers. Prediction of mean waiting time of patients will be highly skewed leading to underestimation of the predicted wait times (Sun et al., 2012). Furthermore, linear regression is computationally more intensive as compared with other machine learning techniques like regularized regression (James et al., 2013).

3.2.1 Regularized regression models

The author explores other procedures to counter the limitations of linear regression models for model prediction and interpretability. Regularized regression models have been used successfully for Genomic prediction which involves a multiple regression of phenotypic observations (n) on markers (p) where p >> n. Ogutu and Piepho (2014) compared the predictive accuracies of genomic prediction using different regularized regression models.

The availability of numerous candidate variables (p) in determining the wait time of patients in EDs encouraged the researcher to use regularized regression methods. Regularized regression methods help in the selection of relevant parameters within the candidate predictor variables while also addressing the concern of multicollinearity. These models evaluate the



regression coefficients β_j in equation 3.2 in a manner that minimizes the loss function and penalty function. The loss function comprises of the Residual Sum of Squares (RSS), which is the difference between the sum of the squared differences between the actual and predicted wait time values. By using the notations developed by Ogutu and Piepho (2014) a regularized regression model can be expressed as:

$$F_{\lambda}, \gamma(\beta) = {}_{\beta}^{argmin} \left\{ \underbrace{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(y_i - \sum_{j=1}^{p} \beta_j x_{ij} \right)^2}_{Loss \ Funtion = RSS} + \underbrace{\sum_{j=1}^{p} p_{\lambda,\gamma}(\beta_j)}_{Penalty \ function} \right\}$$
(3.2)

where $p_{\lambda,\gamma}(.)$ is the function of regression coefficients β_j in equation 3.2. The tuning parameter $\lambda > 0$, controls the relative impact of the penalty function. γ is the shrinkage parameter determines the type of the penalty function. The varying values of the shrinkage parameter lead to different regularized regression methods. The regularized regression models used to predict the wait time of low acuity patients in EDs include Ridge Regression (Hoerl and Kennard, 1970), Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO) (Tibshirani, 1996), Elastic Net (Zou and Hastie, 2005), Minimax Concave Penalty (MCP) (Zhang et al., 2010) as well as Smoothly Clipped Absolute Deviation(SCAD) (Fan and Li, 2001).

Ridge Regression

The Ridge regression model penalty function in equation 3.2 with $\gamma = 2$ reduces to (Hoerl and Kennard, 1970):

$$Ridge\left(\beta\right) = \left. \begin{smallmatrix} argmin \\ \beta \end{smallmatrix} \right\{ RSS + \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{p} \beta_{j}^{2} \right\}$$
(3.3)

As $\lambda \to \infty$, the impact of the shrinkage penalty grows, and the estimated ridge regression coefficients will approach zero thereby leading to a decrease in variance but an increase in bias. For varying values of λ we observe different solutions. λ acts as the shrinkage parameter



and controls the size of the coefficients or the amount of regularization. For this reason, the selection of an optimal value of λ is critical. The optimal value of λ that minimizes the mean squared error is chosen via the process of cross-validation. The penalty used by the ridge regression model is referred to as the l_2 regularization.

Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO)

The LASSO estimator penalty function in equation (3.2) with $\gamma = 1$ reduces to (Tibshirani, 1996):

$$Lasso(\beta) = \mathop{}_{\beta}^{argmin} \left\{ RSS + \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{p} |\beta_j| \right\} 0$$
(3.4)

This is similar to the ridge regression penalty estimator. The LASSO model also shrinks the estimated coefficients to zero. However, the LASSO penalty function can force some of the coefficient estimates to be exactly equal to zero in situations where the value of λ is sufficiently large. This property of the model enables it to be used for the purpose of performing a variable selection. Due to this, the LASSO estimator yields a sparser model, which is easier to interpret as compared with a ridge regression model. However, as in a ridge regression model, choosing an optimal value of λ for LASSO is equally important. The penalty used by LASSO is referred to as l_1 regularization.

Elastic Net

The elastic net regularized regression model combines the ridge regression model as well as the LASSO regression model thereby incorporating both l_1 and l_2 penalties. The elastic net penalty function in equation (3.2) can be written as (Zou and Hastie, 2005):

$$[E - Net(\beta) = {argmin}_{\beta} \left\{ RSS + (1 - \alpha) \sum_{j=1}^{p} |\beta_j| + \alpha \sum_{j=1}^{p} \beta_j^2 \right\}$$
(3.5)

$$\alpha = \lambda_2 / (\lambda_1 + \lambda_2) \tag{3.6}$$



www.manaraa.com

Where is a hyper-parameter and takes a value ranging from 0 to 1. By controlling how much l_1 or l_2 is regularized, takes the value of 0 for ridge regression and 1 for LASSO. λ_2 and λ_1 are the shrinkage penalties for the ridge regression and LASSO model respectively that were selected through the process of cross-validation. In the case of a high degree of collinearity, LASSO regressions tend to perform poorly compared with ridge regression. On the one hand, where there is a high degree of pairwise correlations within variables, the LASSO model selects only one of the variables thus affecting the quality of variable selection. On the other hand, ridge regression models lack variable selection technique. The elastic net regression model with hybrid properties from both elastic net and lasso helps in generating a sparser model with l_1 regularization and addresses the limitation of the number of selected variables using l_2 regularization thereby leading to better prediction performance.

Smoothly Clipped Absolute Deviation (SCAD) and Minimax Concave Penalty (MCP)

Both SCAD and MCP are nonconvex penalties which can be used to diminish bias in penalized regression methods. Both penalties focus on eliminating the irrelevant variables from the model while retaining the important estimators. The penalty for MCP and its derivative can be written for the interval $[0,\infty)$ as [(Zhang et al., 2010); Breheny and Huang (2009)]:

$$p_{\lambda,\gamma}\left(\beta\right) = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \gamma\beta - \frac{\beta^2}{2\gamma} , \ if \ \beta \le \gamma\lambda, \\ \frac{1}{2} \ \gamma\lambda^2 , \ if \ \beta > \gamma\lambda \end{array} \right\}$$
(3.7)

$$p_{\lambda,\gamma}'(\beta) = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \gamma - \frac{\beta}{\gamma} , \ if \ \beta \le \gamma\lambda, \\ 0 & , if \ \beta > \gamma\lambda \end{array} \right\}$$
(3.8)

Where $\lambda \ge 0$ and $\gamma > 0$. The derivative of MCP penalty shows that it applies same rate of penalty as lasso till $\beta > \gamma \lambda$. The smoothly clipped absolute deviation (SCAD) penalty and its gradient is defined by [(Fan and Li, 2001); (Breheny and Huang, 2011)]:



$$p_{\lambda,\gamma}(\beta) = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} \lambda |\beta| & , if |\beta| \leq \lambda \\ -\frac{\beta^2 - 2\gamma |\beta| + \lambda^2}{2(\gamma - 1)} & , if \lambda < |\beta| \leq \gamma \lambda, \\ \frac{(\gamma + 1)\lambda^2}{2} & , if |\beta| > \gamma \lambda \end{array} \right\}$$
(3.9)

$$p_{\lambda,\gamma}'(\beta) = I \ (\beta \le \lambda) + \frac{(\gamma\lambda - \beta)}{(\gamma - 1)\lambda} + I \ (\beta > \lambda) \ for \ some \ \gamma > 2 \ and \ \beta > 0$$
(3.10)

Where $\lambda > 0$ and $\gamma > 2$. This corresponds to a second order spline function with knots at λ and $\gamma\lambda$. This corresponds to a second order spline function with knots at λ and $\gamma\lambda$. SCAD tends to shrink small coefficients to zero while retaining the large coefficients. Thus, SCAD can produce a sparse set of solutions with unbiased large coefficients. Both MCP and SCAD have oracle properties as both tend to fit an unpenalized model in which non-zero predictors are known in advance (Zhang, 2007).

3.2.2 Random Forest

Random forest is an ensemble learning method that can be used for the purpose of classification as well as regression problems (Breiman, 2001). In an ensemble learning method like random forest, the output of multiple methods is combined and collectively evaluated to reach final conclusions (Brown, 2011). Random forests combine as well as generate binary decision trees while also aggregating their results (Breiman et al., 1984). Decision trees in random forest are constructed using a bootstrap sample of the training data and randomly choosing a subset of predictors at each node. This is in contrast to the Classification and Regression Trees (CART) model building process. After fitting individual trees by using bootstrap samples in the ensemble, the final output is achieved by averaging the output of the ensemble. In statistical terms, this process is known as bagging and helps in improving the prediction and accuracy of the model, reducing variance while also avoiding overfitting (Hastie et al., 2009).



Out-of-Bag (OOB) errors can be defined as the training error associated with the points that are not contained in the bootstrap straining sets. The training of random forest is stopped once the OOB error stabilizes. The two important parameters that need to be determined while tuning a random forest are the number of trees to grow; and the number of variables available for splitting at each tree node. The researcher chose both the parameters via the process of cross-validation for the purpose of predictions.

A random forest regression is known to have comparable, if not better, predictive accuracy than other regression models (Zhu et al., 2015). This is because random forest can efficiently deal with both numerical and ordinal variables, and does not require any assumptions about the distribution of data. This is in sharp contrast to other regression models (Joly et al., 2012). Random forest comprehensively captures the non-linearity between the set of candidate predictors and the dependent variables (Smith et al., 2013). Furthermore, it can also handle missing values efficiently along with an automatic variable selection feature.

The algorithm for random forest regression with N being the number of trees and p being the number of input variables at each split is as follows (Dudek, 2015).

- 1. For i = 1 to N:
 - (a) Draw a bootstrap sample B of size S from the training data.
 - (b) Grow a random-forest tree T_i to the bootstrapped data, by recursively repeating the following steps for every node of the tree until the minimum node size m is reached.
 - i. Select p variables at random from the n variables.
 - ii. Pick the best variable/split-among from the p.
 - iii. Split the node into two daughter nodes
- 2. Output the ensemble of trees $\{T_i\}$ where i = 1 to N

The prediction of new point x is made by using

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} T_i(x)$$
(3.11)



39

3.2.3 Quantile Regression

Quantile regression models help define the relationship between a set of candidate predictor variables and the specific quantiles of the response variables analogous to a linear regression, which investigate the mean value of response variables for a given set of predictor variables (Bassett Jr and Koenker, 1978). Quantile regression leads to a more comprehensive analysis by estimating the changes in specific quantiles of the response variables with respect to predictor variables, providing relationship at different points in the conditional distribution of response variable (Mak et al., 2010).

During the modeling process of quantile regression, the data is divided into specific proportions, where quantile $q \in (0, 1)$ is that value of y which is split between q below and 1 - q above for median q = 0.5 the quantile regression estimator for quantile q minimizes (Baum, 2013)

$$F(\beta_q) = {}^{argmin}_{\beta} \left\{ \sum_{i:y_I \ge x_i\beta}^N q \, |y_i - x_i'\beta_q| + \sum_{i:y_I < x_i\beta}^N (1-q) |y_i - x_i'\beta_q| \right\}$$
(3.12)

where the conditional median quantile function of y for the given co-variates of x is $x'_i\beta_q$.

Quantile regression is preferred over linear regression when the extremes of the data are important. Unlike linear regression, quantile regression does not require distribution assumptions, is more robust to outliers and more comprehensive. For these reasons, it is ideal for estimating the predicted wait time for low acuity patients in EDs; because it allows the researcher to address the likelihood of significant variations because of the dynamic environment of ED units (Sun et al., 2012).

3.2.4 Rolling Average

The rolling or moving average is a method by which data points are analyzed by creating a continuous set of averages, from consecutive subsets of a full dataset. There are several types of moving averages based on the method of calculation. The most commonly used



moving averages are simple, weighted, exponential and cumulative moving averages (Dash, 2013). They are used widely for interpreting the associated patterns in any given dataset.

In this study, the researcher focused on using the simple moving average. For a given dataset, a fixed subset size is selected for which the average is calculated. The subset is decided based on the type of data and its application. For a time-series data, the subset can be determined either on the basis of a fixed time (m *minutes*) or a fixed number of entries (k *points*). A moving average helps in smoothing the dataset by removing short-term variations. For a dataset of m points and t fixed subsets of k entities, the moving average can be calculated as (Weisstein, 2013):

$$r_l = \frac{1}{k} \sum_{i=1}^k m_i , \ l = 1, 2, \dots, k$$
 (3.13)

where r_l is the rolling average of l^{th} subset. The rolling average is a conventional method, and it has certain disadvantages when compared with more advanced statistical analysis techniques. The primary disadvantage of the rolling average is that it takes into consideration historical information but ignores future changes; leading to inconsistencies over the period of time. The use of rolling averages can be seen predominantly in understanding the behavior of stock markets and share prices, measuring computer performance and the prediction of wait times in hospitals [(Cook et al., 2011); (Dong et al., 2015);(Conti and Walkowicz, 1977)].

3.3 Model formulation

The ED of a hospital is a complex and dynamic system. It involves extreme volatility and sensitivity. Therefore, to accurately capture the state of the emergency room, one needs to dynamically capture and update the number of patients present in the ED at any given moment of time. To accurately predict the waiting time for low acuity patients, using the one-year historical data from EMR database, the entire dataset was divided into intervals of 20 minutes. To evaluate the waiting time of low acuity patients, the entire dataset is formatted as (Ang et al., 2015)



$$(y_1, \overline{P}_1), (y_2, \overline{P}_2) \dots (y_n, \overline{P}_n)$$
 (3.14)

Where y_i is the actual time to treatment for the i^{th} low acuity patient, $\overline{P}_i \in \mathbb{R}^M$ is the vector value of predictor variables for a 20-minute period, M is the total number of candidate predictor variables and n refers to the number of low acuity patients visiting ED. As highlighted in the previous section, a total of 108 candidate predictor variables are created comprising of 19 queueing, fast track status and 89 time based-estimators to accurately predict the wait time of low acuity patients in ER.

3.4 Model tuning

Model tuning is used to enhance the predictive performance of regularized and tree based regression models as well as accurately estimate the wait time of low acuity patients. Model tuning enables us to identify the best parameters for a machine learning algorithm and optimize its performance for a given set of data. For the data under consideration, the researcher explicitly used time-series based cross-validation as recommended by Bergmeir et al. (2015) in order to establish the tuning parameters for the statistical model. For the purpose of cross-validation, the entire dataset is split into two sets in chronological order; training and test subsets with no overlap. The training set constitutes 80% of the data while remaining 20% comprised of test data. The training dataset is further split into five equal subsets in which the first 80% of patient visits is used for training and remaining 20% as the validation set to forecast the prediction of wait time of patients. The same step is repeated for entire training set by adding validation set to training set and treating next 20% of data points as a new validation set. An overview of this procedure is highlighted in the figure 3.7

3.4.1 Tuning Regularized Regression models

Tuning regularized regression models involves choosing an optimum value of λ using cross validation. Using glment package in R software, the author chooses different values of λ





Figure 3.7: Overview of cross validation for time series data

ranging from 0 to point where a minimum MSE is observed over the training set. This identified value of λ is used to make predictions for validation set and corresponding MSE is evaluated. The same process is then repeated across different subsets of the training set. The most optimum value of λ is than decided based on the lowest MSE which is used for making prediction for test data set.

3.4.2 Tuning Random Forest models

There are many parameters that control the predictive accuracy of the random forest model. The two specific tuning parameters having the biggest impact are – number of variables to randomly sample as candidate predictors for each split (mtry) and the number of trees to grow (ntree). A baseline for mtry is calculated by taking the square root of the number of candidate variables. Using the caret package in R software multiple tuning of multiple parameters is evaluated by choosing different values of mtry and ntree over training data. Using repeated cross-validations, the optimal value of tuning parameters is chosen for the





Figure 3.8: Tuning of Elastic-Net model over training data

lowest value of root mean square error (RMSE) as illustrated in figure A.2. The identified tuning parameters is than used in establishing the wait time of patients for test data set.



Figure 3.9: Tuning of random forest model over training data

3.5 Model Validation

Two non-overlapping distinct datasets were used to train and test the outcome of the developed model. The patient information was partitioned as per the time series based



cross-validation technique described in previous section. For all the statistical techniques used in this research, the training set consisting of first 80% of data is used to fit and tune the model. The trained function is then used to predict the wait time of low acuity patients using the test data. The predictive accuracy of the model was evaluated by mean square error (MSE), which measures the average of the squares the difference between predicted and actual wait times. The statistical technique with least MSE is the best performing model with high predictive accuracy in determining the wait time of patients. Model validation with comparison between different methods is discussed in detail in chapter 4.



Chapter 4

Case Study

This chapter presents the case study undertaken by the researcher, and discusses the findings of the implementation of the study's wait time prediction model. The case study was developed to test and validate the predictive accuracy of the model developed using existing literature. The findings are presented with a brief description of the study site along with the exploratory data analysis. The case study also allowed the researcher to compare different wait time models with sensitivity analysis so as to determine the best performing model.

4.1 Study setting

This study was conducted using the data for one of the nine Acute Care Hospitals within the Covenant Health Care systems. Covenant Health is a community owned not-for-profit healthcare system headquartered in Knoxville, USA. The ED under consideration has a capacity of 40 beds with approximately 49,000 patients visiting annually. The unit operates throughout the week and irrespective of the day of the week; the facility also operates a 10-bed fast track unit for the treatment of low acuity patients.



4.2 Data collection

The archived data of patient's records was extracted from the Emergency Medical Record (EMR) database of the ED facility under consideration. The EMR acts as a centralized database for capturing information from each ED including records related to patient's registrations, medication prescribed, triage details, consultation and mode of payment. The data from the dataset was extracted for a one year period from August 2014 to July 2015. The total dataset comprised of approximately 50,000 entries. The EMR also records the time and date stamps entered by a medical healthcare professional or administration as patients transition through the various stages of the ED from registration to disposition. All sensitive and identifying information of the patient's demographics were suitably removed by the concerned hospital staff prior to the data's use for the study. The data was extracted from the fields listed below.

4.3 Data screening

The raw data as extracted from the EMR database included several corrupt and incomplete records. There were a significant number of missing data points, double entries and inaccurate information of patients records. Therefore, the author implemented the following steps so as to make the data more applicable

- 1. The data for 1,145 patients who left the ED without being seen, was deleted from the raw data.
- 2. For a substantial number of records (6,054), the time of treatment was missing. These records were also removed from the data.
- 3. In order to ensure that there were no negative values for time taken for treatment, the data was checked for consistency

 $Arrival \leq Triage \leq Treatment \leq Disposition$



Columnar Header	Description
Internal ID	Unique primary key for identifying
	record in EMR database
LOS	Total length of stay of patient in Emergency Room
Age	Age of registered patient
Sex	Gender of patient
Chief Compleint	Chief complaint recorded for patient
Chief Complaint	at time of triage/ registration
Triage Category	Triage level assigned to patient by triage nurse
Disposition	Status whether the patient was discharged or admitted
FAC	Name of facility
Department ID	Department ID (EDP) for which the data was captured
Amiral DTTM	Date-time when the patient arrived
Arrival D11M	and registered themselves in the ED
Triage DTTM	Date-time when the patient was
	assessed by the triage Nurse
Assigned Bed DTTM	Date-time when the patient was assigned a bed
Chart DTTM	Date-time when the patient was charted
MD DTTM	Date-time when the patient was first seen by a physician
Decision DTTM	Date-time when the decision regarding the patient's
	admission or discharge is taken
Disposition DTTM	Date-time when the patient leaves the ED via;
	discharge or admission
MOA	Mode of arrival of the patient
	(ambulance or walk-in)
	Continued on next page

Table 4.1: EMR data field description



Columnar Header	Description	
Miscellaneous	Status whether the patient left without	
	being seen (LWBS),	
	was admitted, discharged, transferred	
	declared Dead on Arrival (DOA) or eloped	

Table 4.1 – continued from previous page

4. The author found approximately 2,000 duplicate entries which were further deleted from dataset.

After the process of data screening was implemented, the number of patient records reduced from the original 51,000 data points to a final sample of 34,000.

4.4 Data exploration

To focus on the number of patients who Left Without Being Seen (LWBS) as well as those who left/ eloped from the ED against medical advice, the author used data exploration techniques on the sample. The medical records of 50,963 patients, over a one year period, revealed that a total of 1,582 (3.10%). Patients left without being seen or eloped from the ED against medical advice. A majority of the patients, around 86% of those visiting the ED, were low acuity patients with triage level 3, 4 and 5. This is in stunning contrast to a mere 13% of those visiting the ED, being high acuity patients with potentially life-threatening conditions and triage levels 1 and 2. A patient with high acuity requires immediate medical care while also using more resources (Wuerz et al., 2000). Figure 4.1 is a pictorial representation of the number of patients that visited the ED and segregated based on their triage level.

The average time to treatment for all patients was observed to be 54.24 minutes. High acuity patients requiring immediate medical attention had a lower average time to treatment





Figure 4.1: Patients per triage level

of 41.53 minutes whereas low acuity patients had a higher average time to treatment of 56 minutes.

Figure 4.2 is a graphical representation of the average time to treatment for various patient groups for any given day. The average time to treatment of patients is directly related to the EDs occupancy as well as staffing consideration at any given time of the day. The ED facility, used for the study, employs more resources from 6 A.M to 6 P.M as opposed to other times of the day. It is evident from Figure 4.2 that both low and high acuity patients have relatively lower times to treatment when more staff are employed in the ED.

Table 4.2 lists the description of data in terms of triage level, gender, rooming and decision. From the table, we find that 73% of the patients that visited the ED were discharged after being treated by a doctor or nurse. 24% percent of the patients were either admitted or transferred. This strengthens the argument that the majority of ED visits culminate in the discharge of the patients.

The average number of patients visiting the ED varied for different times. However, at any given time of the day, the number of high acuity patients in the ED was relatively constant as opposed to the number of low acuity patients. This is evident in Figure 4.3. As





Figure 4.2: Average time to treatment of patients across day



Figure 4.3: Average number of people in ED at a given time of day



Data Characteristic	Count(Percent)	
Total Number of ED Visits	50,963	
Left ED		
Left Without Being Seen	1,145~(2.25%)	
Left Against Medical Advice	437 (.85%)	
Mode of Arrival		
Ambulance	6,385~(12.5%)	
Law Enforcement	16(<1%)	
Walked in/ Private Transportation	32,335~(63.44%)	
Missing Data Points	12,227 (23%)	
Gender		
Male	28,999 (57%)	
Female	21,964 (43%)	
Triage Category		
Critical -Level 1	262 (0.51%)	
Emergent-Level 2	6,498 (12.75%)	
Urgent-Level 3	30,506~(59.85%)	
Semi Urgent-Level 4	1,1439 (22.14%)	
Non Urgent -Level 5	1,431 (2.8%)	
Rooming		
ER1-ER17	21,415 (42.02%)	
ER18-ER27	8,047 (15.78%)	
ER28-ER37	11,733 (23.02%)	
CC Rooms	3,235 (6.34%)	
Others (Triage Room, Lobby, etc.)	1,616 (3.17%)	
Missing Data Points	4,916 (9.64%)	
Decision		
Admitted	11,133 (22.23%)	
Discharged	37,233 (73.05%)	
Transferred	683 (1.34%)	
Others (Dead on Arrival, Registration Error, etc.)	$32\overline{6(<1\%)}$	

Table 4.2: Description of data

mentioned earlier, the number of low acuity patients in the ED varied through the time of day, with the number increasing steadily as the day progressed from 7 AM to 7 PM. However, it decreases at a slower rate during the remaining parts of the day.





Figure 4.4: Organization of analysis and results section

4.5 Results and analysis of case study

This section of the chapter highlights the findings of the wait time model, as presented in the previous methodology chapter. The outcome of the model, as developed for the study, is evaluated and compared with the findings from different prediction methods that are based on the Mean Square Error (MSE)/Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) methods. The accuracy of the prediction methods is further assessed in terms of error quantiles. For the best performing wait time model, the most important predictor variables are determined on the basis of statistical significance followed by a sensitivity analysis so as to identify the important variables that can be influenced to reduce wait times. The results of the wait time models discussed in the subsequent sections of the thesis are developed via the use of free and open source R programing language. The researcher uses the *glment* package for regularized regression models, *quantreg* package for quantile regression and *randomforest* package for random forest regression models respectively. The information is organized and presented as shown in the figure 4.4

4.5.1 Comparison of wait time models

To compare and validate the wait time across different models, the data is split into training and test datasets with no overlap. First 80% of the patient visits, in chronological order,



	MSE		RMSE	
Forecasting Method	Training	Test	Training	Test
LASSO	1173.08	1811.93	34.25	42.56
Ridge	1144.16	1838.94	33.82	42.88
E-Net	1172.31	1809.2	34.23	42.53
SCAD	1171.47	1829.69	34.22	42.77
MCP	1171.04	1829.69	34.22	42.77
Quantile Regression	1271.68	2201.8	35.66	46.92
Rolling Average	1543.43	2570.68	39.28	50.7
Random Forest	1550.25	1708.78	39.37	41.33

Table 4.3: Training and test Mean Square Error (MSE) and Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) in minutes for wait time prediction of low acuity patients

accounted for the training dataset and the remaining 20% of the patient visits were used for test data. Table 4.3 shows MSEs and RMSEs for regularized regression models (Lasso, Ridge, E-Net, SCAD & MCP), conventional rolling average, as well as quantile and random forest regression models for both datasets. From this table, we see clearly that the Random Forest Regression model is more accurate than all the other prediction methods with the least test MSE of 1708.78 followed by E-Net with a 5% increase in error value. When compared with the rolling average, which is conventionally used by hospitals for the purpose of publishing the wait time, the random forest model achieves greater accuracy by reducing test MSE by 33%. No unusual variation in Test MSEs was observed for all regularized regression models.

Figure 4.5 graphically visualizes and compares patients wait times across different models on the basis of the information presented in Table No. 4.3. To evaluate the accuracy of predicted waiting times, across different times of day, the output of the two best performing models (Random forest and E-Net) are compared against the conventional rolling average which is used by most hospitals to determine and publish the wait time of patients in the emergency room.

Rolling Average Vs Elastic-Net

To visualize the accuracy of patients, wait time model using elastic-net against rolling average; mean of actual and predicted wait times across different times of day over 20





Figure 4.5: Training & Test Mean Square Error (MSE) and Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) comparison

minutes period is presented in the figure 4.6. As seen in figure 4.6, the rolling average tends to overestimate the wait time during the period of midnight to 7 AM and underestimates the wait time for the rest of the day due to the inability to effectively capture the diurnal variation. However, predictions from the elastic-net model overestimate the wait time of patients for almost all times of the day thus allowing patients to be seen before the actual predicted time. A patient is expected to have a higher rate of satisfaction when they are treated before the cited time as compared to the situation where they have to wait much longer than the estimated wait time. While looking back at the arrival rate of patients into the ED in figure 4.3, a majority of low acuity patients visited the ED between 11 pm to midnight. This period aligns with the time during which the rolling average method potentially underestimated the wait time. Hence, the majority of patients visiting the emergency room would likely see underestimated wait times thereby leading to more frustration and anxiety.





Figure 4.6: Comparison of Rolling Average Vs Elastic-Net

Rolling Average Vs Random Forest

As shown in figure 4.7, similar to the Elastic Net model, the random forest model also tends to overestimate the waiting time for patients, but with lesser variation across different times of the day except for the period between 10 pm to 4 am in morning. While comparing the random forest model with the rolling average we find that the rolling average tends to overestimate in situations where the actual wait time is less and underestimates when the actual wait time is more. However, the wait time predicted by the random forest model is tied closely with the actual wait time for 20 mins period across the day as evident from figure 4.3. By updating the candidate predictor variables every 20 minutes, the random forest model can capture the changes in ED dynamics with more accuracy in contrast to conventional rolling average method, which relies heavily on historical data.

Random Forest Vs Elastic-Net

As shown in figure 4.8, both random forest and elastic-net capture the wait time with good accuracy. However, the random forest model supersedes the elastic-net model with a low MSE value. The analysis of the actual vs predicted wait times for both the models, across different times of the day, reveals some interesting insights in terms of capturing the variability in patient's time-to-treatment. Relative to the random forest model, which





Figure 4.7: Comparison of Rolling Average Vs Random Forest

overestimates the predicted wait time during certain periods in the day (4 AM to 10 PM), the elastic-net model tends to overestimate the wait time of patients for almost all times of the day. In the case of overestimation of the wait time, a patient may be happy to be seen before the predicted time (Rae et al., 2008). However, the misrepresentation of wait times is also likely to encourage patients to leave the ER without being seen by a healthcare professional. There is the additional concern that an underestimation of wait time could lead to anxiety amongst low acuity patients over the delays to their treatment. The random forest model tends to solve the associated problems by evenly distributing underestimation and overestimation across the day and predicting the expected ED wait times more accurately.

4.5.2 Error quantiles

Table 4.4 specifies the proportion of distribution of error in the predicted and actual wait times of low acuity patients for all the methods across different quantiles. Since a huge variation can be observed in the actual wait times for low acuity patients across different times of the day, the quantile errors can help identify extreme values by classifying errors in different quantiles. As seen from the values in table 4.4 the wait time is underestimated for 25% of patients and overestimated for the rest of data points in the test data set for all the forecasting methods (except quantile regression & conventional rolling average method). As




Figure 4.8: Comparison of Elastic-Net Vs Random Forest

expected, the wait time for approximately 50% of the patients were underestimated by using the conventional rolling average method whereas the underestimation count for patients was as high as around 75% for the quantile regression forecasting technique. The random forest method mitigates the problem of extreme underestimation and overestimation by uniformly distributing the error estimates across different quantiles. A comparison of the wait time prediction for low acuity patients using the random forest technique and the conventional rolling average method for the extreme ends of test data (10% & 95%) and the median (50%) yields interesting insights. For instance, for 10% and 95% of patients respectively with less acuity, there is a difference of approximately 15 minutes in the predicted time to treatment for the rolling average and random forest methods with the latter being more accurate with less error. Additionally, the random forest method has the least overestimated estimation of around 7 minutes for the median.

4.5.3 Variable Importance

To identify the important factors contributing towards the accurate estimate of the wait time prediction importance of variables is computed for the best performing model i.e. random forest. As detailed in the methodology section of the thesis, a total of 108 candidate predictor variables are created including 19 queueing, fast track status and 89 time based estimators



	\mathbf{Er}	ror Qu	antile	s (Min	$\mathbf{s})$
Forecasting Method	10%	25%	50%	75%	95%
Rolling Average (20 Min)	-60.6	-25.5	-2.0	17.0	67.0
Quantile	-77.3	-53.9	-34.5	-15.3	31.5
LASSO	-44.0	-13.9	7.5	24.9	56.1
E-Net	-40.2	-10.2	11.5	29.3	64.5
Ridge	-44.4	-13.6	8.0	24.4	57.0
SCAD	-39.7	-10.1	11.7	29.5	61.8
MCP	-39.9	-10.2	11.5	29.4	61.6
Random Forest	-45.5	-14.7	7.2	22.5	53.5

 Table 4.4:
 Error quantiles for test data in mins

so as to accurately predict the wait time of low acuity patients in the emergency room figure 4.9 shows the relative importance of the top twenty variables identified based on the Gini Impurity Index for the random forest regression method. Table 4.5 provides the reader with a detailed description and categorization of the top twenty variables identified by the researcher. From the tabulated information, the top 20 important factors identified for model accuracy consist of fast track status, 14 queueing parameters and 5 diurnal based parameters. Based on the conceptual model introduced by Asplin et al. (2003) the largest influencers of wait time are further categorized into input, output and throughput factors.

The important estimators identified for model accuracy could potentially help the ED's management and administration in deciding the significant factors leading to excessive wait time. The largest influencers of wait time consist of low acuity patients who are triaged and awaiting treatment in waiting rooms. The count of high acuity patients arriving and waiting for treatment as well as the total number of people in the ED at any given time also had a significant impact on ED wait times. The identified predictors as detailed in table 4.5 were consistent with the findings from the discrete time event study conducted by McCarthy et al. (2009) in which, the long wait time of patients in the ER room correlates with the total number of people waiting for treatment.

From the triage perspective, since the study focused on establishing the wait time of low acuity patients only, it follows that the number of low acuity patients waiting for triage had





Figure 4.9: Variable importance plot random forest (Top 20 estimators)

the highest impact on wait times. The number of patients with life-threatening injuries is the second most important factor contributing towards the wait time estimates as high acuity patients are immediately triaged and rushed for treatment thereby consuming more ED resources and leaving low acuity patients in the waiting room. Hence, in terms of urgency, the patients with all triage levels are the indicators of wait time in the emergency room.

The predictors associated with the output consist of all the patients waiting for disposition (either being admitted or discharged) after triage or treatment. In the ED process, the provider or consultant is responsible for making a final decision as to whether a patient is to be admitted or discharged after treatment. If a consultant decides to admit a patient after initial treatment, there are many follow up processes that need to occur, which can increase the patient's overall length of stay in the ER. For the ER of the hospital being studied, approximately 23% of all ED patients are admitted to the hospital. This population adds to the waiting time of other patients in the ED by occupying inpatient beds while they are in the process of final consultation. To reduce delays when admitting patients, the ED administration may consider focusing on streamlining the admission process. This can be done by encouraging communication between the physicians and the consultant staff responsible for admitting patients into the hospital. This suggestion is rooted in the results



of the study conducted by Howell et al. (2004) and Quick (1999), which showed that effective communication between the ED physicians and in house hospitalists could significantly reduce admission cycle time.

At the time of the patient's arrival into the roomer, throughput factors leading to a long wait time comprise of the total number of people in ED and the status of the fast-track initiative. For hospital under consideration, approximately 86% of the total patients visiting the ED were low acuity patients. Therefore, to have maximum impact in improving the throughput and operational efficiency of the ED, the ED managers could explicitly focus on operational innovations around low acuity patients. The implementation of a rapid triage system, staffed with a physician and nurse so as to quickly examine and treat low acuity patients, could help reduce the patient's length of stay in the ER. Furthermore, by assigning a dedicated staff for radiology and laboratory services during the periods of a surge in low acuity patients, the hospital can further reduce the overall length of stay of their patients in the ED.

4.5.4 Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis is performed to determine the set of independent variables that specifically impact the wait time of patients for the best performing model. The MSE for the random forest model is evaluated for a certain set of candidate predictor variables, and proceeds to sequentially incorporate other variables. The set of candidate variables used start with 19 queueing based parameters (Queue); 71 parameters based on the time of day (Day); 6 day of the week parameters (Week); 11 month of the year (Month) parameters and 1 status of fast track parameter (Fast-track).

Table 4.6, reports the MSE for the different sets of candidate predictor variables. The researcher finds that including queueing-based parameters alone gives remarkably high predictive accuracy, and incorporating the day-based parameters and fast-track status further reduces the MSE. However, incorporating the day of the week and the month of the year parameters as predictor variables does not lead to a significant reduction of the MSE.



61

Variable Description	Relative	Variable	Reference	
Low acuity triaged, but	100	Queueing	V1	
waiting for treatment		Parameters (Input)		
High acuity arrived, but	88.874	Queueing	V2	
waiting for treatment		Parameters (Input)		
Triage level 3, Waiting to	80.085	Queueing	V3	
Start treatment		Parameters (Input)		
Total number of people in	44.324	Queueing	V4	
ED at any time		Parameters		
		(Throughput)		
Triage level 5, waiting to	27.062	Queueing	V5	
start treatment		Parameters (Input)		
All patients (registered, but	26.646	Queueing	V6	
waiting to be triaged)		Parameters (Input)		
Low Acuity waiting for	18.905	Queueing	V7	
treatment (Triage -4)		Parameters (Input)		
Low acuity, who triaged but	10.732	Queueing	V8	
waiting for disposition		Parameters (Output)		
People treated, but still	10.732	Queueing	V9	
waiting for disposition (To-		Parameters (Output)		
tal)				
Low acuity waiting for treat-	8.489	Queueing	V10	
ment (Triage -2)		Parameters (Input)		
Continued on next page				

Table 4.5: Variable importance plot & description for random forest model (top 20estimators)



Variable Description	Relative	Variable	Reference
People treated, but still	5.852	Queueing	V11
waiting for disposition		Parameters (Output)	
(Triage-3)			
Triaged, but waiting for	5.852	Queueing	V12
disposition (Triage-3)		Parameters (Output)	
December	4.562	Diurnal Parameters	V13
		(Input)	
Treated, but waiting for	4.536	Queueing	V14
disposition (Triage-3)		Parameters (Output)	
Treated, but waiting for	4.536	Queueing	V15
disposition (Triage-1)		Parameters (Output)	
Fast Track	2.68	Fast track Status	V16
		(Throughput)	
8:40 PM	1.66	Diurnal Parameters	V17
		(Input)	
10:20 PM	1.212	Diurnal Parameters	V18
		(Input)	
11:40 PM	1.178	Diurnal Parameters	V19
		(Input)	
1:00 PM	1.138	Diurnal Parameters	V20
		(Input)	

Table 4.5 – continued from previous page

Another important insight from the table 4.6 is that the incorporation of only the queuingbased candidate variables yields a more accurate prediction than the conventional rolling average method. When comparing output from the conventional rolling average method and



Variables	MSE
Queue	2017.698
Queue+Day	1837.251
Queue+Day+Week	1849.044
Queue+Day+Week+Month	1818.04
Queue+Day+Week+Month+Fast-track	1708.784

Table 4.6: Test MSE (in Mins) for different set of predictor variables

the random forest model, the random forest model with queueing-based parameters alone reduces the MSE by 22%. Thus, even if the hospitals incorporate only the queuing based parameters, they are likely to implement a better wait time prediction system that accurately captures the dynamic state of an ER.

It is also worth noting that it is beneficial to capture the diurnal variation in the arrival of patients by the process of recording their time of the day based parameters. The inclusion of 71 binary variables of 20-minute intervals, on the basis of the time at which the patient arrived at the ED, along with the queueing-based parameters reduced the MSE by approximately 9%. Updating the entire dataset after every 20 minutes helps in capturing the volatility and sensitivity associated with ED operations.

Additionally, the availability of the fast track in the ED helps in increasing throughput and reducing patient's overall length of stay in the ER. Therefore, incorporating the availability of the fast track status as an independent variable during the estimation of the wait time of patient yields significantly improved prediction accuracy.



Chapter 5

Conclusions and Future Work

5.1 Conclusion

A robust predictive model that accurately estimates the wait time of low acuity patients using random forest regression model is presented in this thesis. The developed model established the wait time of patients in almost real time by accurately capturing the changing ED conditions and through the use of diurnal and queueing parameters. For every patient arriving at the ED, data from the Emergency Medical Records (EMR) is mined to specifically calculate the number of patients of different triage levels at various stages of the ED along with candidate predictor variables related to fast track status, time of day, day of week and month of year. The predictive accuracy of the developed model is compared to the conventional rolling average, quantile and regularized regression methods (Ridge, Lasso, Elastic Net, SCAD & MCP) through the use of mean square error.

Random forest regression model achieves better accuracy by uniformly distributing underestimation and overestimation across different times of the day as compared to the E-Net model (second best performing model), which tends to overestimate the wait time to treatment. Relative to the conventional rolling average method, there is a significant increase in the predictive accuracy of the developed model because of its accounting for diurnal variation and patient flow across various stages of the ED. Predictors with the



65

largest effect on wait time estimates were identified using variable importance plot. The biggest contributors comprised of a number of patients waiting in the lobby for treatment. By identifying the most important indicators leading to long wait times, ED administrators can specifically modify their strategies that are aimed at reducing long delays. The ED staff and management can also effectively manage their resources by studying the arrival patterns of patients in to the ER.

Sensitivity analysis helped in detecting important sets of candidate predictor variables that could be used in estimating wait times. Instead of using all the intendent variables, a hospital can specifically rely on a specific set so as to achieve the desired accuracy. This identification is a key step because when the hospital is implementing a system to estimate the wait time of patients in almost real time, one has to query the live database to retrieve the information, which can significantly take a long computation time. Therefore, by specifically identifying the key set of predictor variables, a more efficient and reliable system with real time information can be developed requiring lower computational time.

Implementing the wait time model will also help in managing the expectations of the patients waiting for treatment. Providing patients with a predicted wait time positively affects patient's behavior by increasing their tolerance for waiting, which leads to increased patient satisfaction and reduces the likelihood of them leaving before being seen by a doctor. It also helps the ED staff to efficiently deal with anxious patient awaiting consultation with a doctor. Providing an estimate of the wait time also gives the ED administrators an opportunity to be informed regarding the volume of patients in the ED for any point in time thus helping them to allocate their resources more efficiently during a surge.

5.2 Future Work

5.2.1 Model

The developed predictive model may be further extended to improve predictive accuracy by incorporating the staffing schedule of physicians and nurse practitioners as potential



candidate predictor variables. Thus, helping to accurately capture the throughput indicators in the ED for any given time. There also exists a potential to accommodate real time traffic data from sources like Google & Nokia maps. Information captured from the traffic data can be added to the estimated wait time thereby giving low acuity patients a better estimate of the total time (waiting + travel time) before being seen by a healthcare professional.

5.2.2 Software and web interface

The presented model can also benefit by integrating with the existing ED software tools used by the staff to register a patient on arrival. By allowing receptionists or greeters to manage the patient's expectations by informing them well in advance about the estimated wait time, the patient's satisfaction levels can be improved. The same information can further be published on the hospital's website or on a screen the in waiting area in the ER, providing patients with updated information. Showing real time information regarding ER wait times publicly, on the website, can further help patients to choose an ED with lower wait time thus distributing patient load in nearby EDs.

5.2.3 Mobile application

The developed wait time model can be implemented as an application for mobile devices. This will enable patients to retrieve information in real time and locate an ER with shortest waiting time. Using location feature on mobile devices patients can be further assisted in providing directions to nearby EDs.



Bibliography



- Abraham, G., Byrnes, G. B., and Bain, C. A. (2009). Short-term forecasting of emergency inpatient flow. *IEEE Transactions on Information Technology in Biomedicine*, 13(3):380– 388.
- Ang, E., Kwasnick, S., Bayati, M., Plambeck, E. L., and Aratow, M. (2015). Accurate emergency department wait time prediction. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 18(1):141–156.
- Arendt, K. W., Sadosty, A. T., Weaver, A. L., Brent, C. R., and Boie, E. T. (2003). The leftwithout-being-seen patients: what would keep them from leaving? Annals of emergency medicine, 42(3):317–IN2.
- Arkun, A., Briggs, W. M., Patel, S., Datillo, P. A., Bove, J., and Birkhahn, R. H. (2010). Emergency department crowding: factors influencing flow. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine, 11(1).
- Armony, M., Israelit, S., Mandelbaum, A., Marmor, Y. N., Tseytlin, Y., Yom-Tov, G. B., et al. (2015). On patient flow in hospitals: A data-based queueing-science perspective. *Stochastic Systems*, 5(1):146–194.
- Armony, M. and Maglaras, C. (2004). Contact centers with a call-back option and real-time delay information. Operations Research, 52(4):527–545.
- Asplin, B. R., Magid, D. J., Rhodes, K. V., Solberg, L. I., Lurie, N., and Camargo, C. A. (2003). A conceptual model of emergency department crowding. *Annals of emergency medicine*, 42(2):173–180.



- Austin, P. C. and Schull, M. J. (2003). Quantile regression: A statistical tool for out-ofhospital research. Academic emergency medicine, 10(7):789–797.
- Baker, D. W., Stevens, C. D., and Brook, R. H. (1991). Patients who leave a public hospital emergency department without being seen by a physician: causes and consequences. *Jama*, 266(8):1085–1090.
- Bassett Jr, G. and Koenker, R. (1978). Asymptotic theory of least absolute error regression. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 73(363):618–622.
- Batt, R. J. and Terwiesch, C. (2012). Doctors under load: An empirical study of statedependent service times in emergency care. The Wharton School, the Univ ersity of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, 19104.
- Baum, C. F. (2013). Quantile regression. URL http://fmwww. bc. edu/EC-C S, 2013.
- Bergmeir, C., Hyndman, R. J., Koo, B., et al. (2015). A note on the validity of crossvalidation for evaluating time series prediction. Monash University, Department of Econometrics and Business Statistics, Tech. Rep.
- Bielen, F. and Demoulin, N. (2007). Waiting time influence on the satisfaction-loyalty relationship in services. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 17(2):174– 193.
- Bitterman, R. A. (1992). A critical analysis of the federal cobra hospital antidumping law: Ramifications for hospitals, physicians, and effects on access to healthcare. U. Det. Mercy L. Rev., 70:125.
- Blumenthal, D. and Jena, A. B. (2013). Hospital value-based purchasing. Journal of hospital medicine, 8(5):271–277.
- Bond, K., Ospina, M., Blitz, S., Afilalo, M., Campbell, S., Bullard, M., Innes, G., Holroyd, B., Curry, G., Schull, M., et al. (2007). Frequency, determinants and impact of overcrowding. *Healthcare Quarterly*, 10(4):32–40.



- Boudreaux, E. D., Ary, R. D., Mandry, C. V., and McCabe, B. (2000). Determinants of patient satisfaction in a large, municipal ed: the role of demographic variables, visit characteristics, and patient perceptions. *The American journal of emergency medicine*, 18(4):394–400.
- Boyle, A., Beniuk, K., Higginson, I., and Atkinson, P. (2012). Emergency department crowding: time for interventions and policy evaluations. *Emergency medicine international*, 2012.
- Breheny, P. and Huang, J. (2009). Penalized methods for bi-level variable selection. *Statistics* and its interface, 2(3):369.
- Breheny, P. and Huang, J. (2011). Coordinate descent algorithms for nonconvex penalized regression, with applications to biological feature selection. *The annals of applied statistics*, 5(1):232.
- Breiman, L. (2001). Random forests. Machine learning, 45(1):5–32.
- Breiman, L., Friedman, J. H., Olshen, R. A., and Stone, C. J. (1984). Classification and regression trees. wadsworth & brooks. *Monterey*, CA.
- Brown, G. (2011). Ensemble learning. In *Encyclopedia of Machine Learning*, pages 312–320. Springer.
- Bullard, M. J., Villa-Roel, C., Bond, K., Vester, M., Holroyd, B. R., and Rowe, B. H. (2009). Tracking emergency department overcrowding in a tertiary care academic institution. *Healthcare quarterly*, 12(3).
- Burt, C. W. and McCaig, L. F. (2006). Staffing, Capacity, and Ambulance Diversion in Emergency Departments, United States, 2003-04. US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics.



- Carrus, B., Corbett, S., and Khandelwal, D. (2010). A hospital-wide strategy for fixing emergency-department overcrowding. *McKinsey Quarterly*, pages 1–12.
- Carter, E. J., Pouch, S. M., and Larson, E. L. (2014). The relationship between emergency department crowding and patient outcomes: a systematic review. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 46(2):106–115.
- Champion, R., Kinsman, L. D., Lee, G. A., Masman, K. A., May, E. A., Mills, T. M., Taylor, M. D., Thomas, P. R., and Williams, R. J. (2007). Forecasting emergency department presentations. *Australian Health Review*, 31(1):83–90.
- Chan, H., Lo, S., Lee, L., Lo, W., Yu, W., Wu, Y., Ho, S., Yeung, R., and Chan, J. (2014). Lean techniques for the improvement of patients flow in emergency department. World journal of emergency medicine, 5(1):24.
- Cohen, E. L., Wilkin, H. A., Tannebaum, M., Plew, M. S., and Haley Jr, L. L. (2013). When patients are impatient: the communication strategies utilized by emergency department employees to manage patients frustrated by wait times. *Health communication*, 28(3):275– 285.
- Connelly, L. G. and Bair, A. E. (2004). Discrete event simulation of emergency department activity: A platform for system-level operations research. Academic Emergency Medicine, 11(11):1177–1185.
- Considine, J., Kropman, M., Kelly, E., and Winter, C. (2008). Effect of emergency department fast track on emergency department length of stay: a case–control study. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 25(12):815–819.
- Conti, D. M. and Walkowicz, J. L. (1977). Computer Performance Evaluation Users Group (CPEUG): Proceedings of the Thirteenth Meeting, Held at New Orleans, Louisiana, October 11-14, 1977. Number 500-518. The Bureau: for sale by the Supt. of Docs., US Govt. Print. Off.



- Cook, D., Coory, M., and Webster, R. (2011). Exponentially weighted moving average charts to compare observed and expected values for monitoring risk-adjusted hospital indicators. *BMJ quality & safety*, 20(6):469–474.
- Cowan, R. M. and Trzeciak, S. (2004). Clinical review: emergency department overcrowding and the potential impact on the critically ill. *Critical care*, 9(3):291.
- Dash, S. (2013). A comparative study of moving averages: simple, weighted, and exponential.
- Derlet, R. W. (2002). Overcrowding in emergency departments: increased demand and decreased capacity. Annals of emergency medicine, 39(4):430–432.
- Derlet, R. W., McNamara, R. M., Kazzi, A. A., and Richards, J. R. (2014). Emergency department crowding and loss of medical licensure: a new risk of patient care in hallways. *Western Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 15(2):137.
- Derlet, R. W., Richards, J. R., and Kravitz, R. L. (2001). Frequent overcrowding in us emergency departments. Academic Emergency Medicine, 8(2):151–155.
- Di Somma, S., Paladino, L., Vaughan, L., Lalle, I., Magrini, L., and Magnanti, M. (2015). Overcrowding in emergency department: an international issue. *Internal and emergency medicine*, 10(2):171–175.
- Dong, J., Yom-Tov, E., and Yom-Tov, G. B. (2015). The impact of delay announcements on hospital network coordination and waiting times. Technical report, Working paper.
- Dubé, L. and Schmitt, B. H. (1996). The temporal dimension of social episodes: Position effect in time judgments of unfilled intervals. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 26(20):1816–1826.
- Dudek, G. (2015). Short-term load forecasting using random forests. In Intelligent Systems' 2014, pages 821–828. Springer.



- Duguay, C. and Chetouane, F. (2007). Modeling and improving emergency department systems using discrete event simulation. *Simulation*, 83(4):311–320.
- Eitel, D. R., Rudkin, S. E., Malvehy, M. A., Killeen, J. P., and Pines, J. M. (2010). Improving service quality by understanding emergency department flow: a white paper and position statement prepared for the american academy of emergency medicine. *The Journal of emergency medicine*, 38(1):70–79.
- Erenler, A. K., Akbulut, S., Guzel, M., Çetinkaya, H., Karaca, A., Turkoz, B., and Baydin, A. (2014). Reasons for overcrowding in the emergency department: Experiences and suggestions of an education and research hospital. *Turkish Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 14(2):59–63.
- F. Brian Boudi, M. (July). Reducing wait time in the emergency department — federal practitioner. http://www.mdedge.com/fedprac/article/84342/ reducing-wait-time-emergency-department. (Accessed on 02/18/2017).
- Falvo, T., Grove, L., Stachura, R., Vega, D., Stike, R., Schlenker, M., and Zirkin, W. (2007). The opportunity loss of boarding admitted patients in the emergency department. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 14(4):332–337.
- Fan, J. and Li, R. (2001). Variable selection via nonconcave penalized likelihood and its oracle properties. *Journal of the American statistical Association*, 96(456):1348–1360.
- Felton, B. M., Reisdorff, E. J., Krone, C. N., and Laskaris, G. A. (2011). Emergency department overcrowding and inpatient boarding: a statewide glimpse in time. Academic emergency medicine, 18(12):1386–1391.
- for Disease Control, C., Prevention, et al. (2013). National hospital ambulatory medical care survey: 2013 emergency department summary tables. *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.*



- Forster, A. J., Stiell, I., Wells, G., Lee, A. J., and Van Walraven, C. (2003). The effect of hospital occupancy on emergency department length of stay and patient disposition. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 10(2):127–133.
- Gantt, L. T. (2004). A strategy to manage overcrowding: development of an ed holding area. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 30(3):237–242.
- Ghanes, K., Diakogiannis, A., Jouini, O., Jemai, Z., and Wargon, M. (2014). Key performance indicators for emergency departments: A survey from an operations management perspective. Under revision in IIE Transactions on Healthcare Systems Engineering.
- Gilligan, P., Winder, S., Singh, I., Gupta, V., Kelly, P., and Hegarty, D. (2008). The boarders in the emergency department (bed) study. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 25(5):265–269.
- Goodacre, S. and Webster, A. (2005). Who waits longest in the emergency department and who leaves without being seen? *Emergency medicine journal*, 22(2):93–96.
- Gorelick, M. H., Yen, K., and Yun, H. J. (2005). The effect of in-room registration on emergency department length of stay. *Annals of emergency medicine*, 45(2):128–133.
- Green, L. V., Soares, J., Giglio, J. F., and Green, R. A. (2006). Using queueing theory to increase the effectiveness of emergency department provider staffing. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 13(1):61–68.
- Han, J. H., Zhou, C., France, D. J., Zhong, S., Jones, I., Storrow, A. B., and Aronsky,
 D. (2007). The effect of emergency department expansion on emergency department overcrowding. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 14(4):338–343.
- Hastie, T., Tibshirani, R., and Friedman, J. (2009). Unsupervised learning. In *The elements of statistical learning*, pages 485–585. Springer.
- Hoerl, A. E. and Kennard, R. W. (1970). Ridge regression: Biased estimation for nonorthogonal problems. *Technometrics*, 12(1):55–67.



- Hoot, N. and Aronsky, D. (2005). An early warning system for overcrowding in the emergency department. In AMIA... Annual Symposium proceedings. AMIA Symposium, volume 2006, pages 339–343. American Medical Informatics Association.
- Hoot, N. R. and Aronsky, D. (2008). Systematic review of emergency department crowding: causes, effects, and solutions. Annals of emergency medicine, 52(2):126–136.
- Hoot, N. R., LeBlanc, L. J., Jones, I., Levin, S. R., Zhou, C., Gadd, C. S., and Aronsky, D. (2009). Forecasting emergency department crowding: a prospective, real-time evaluation. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 16(3):338–345.
- Howell, E. E., Bessman, E. S., and Rubin, H. R. (2004). Hospitalists and an innovative emergency department admission process. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 19(3):266– 268.
- Hsia, R. Y., Asch, S. M., Weiss, R. E., Zingmond, D., Liang, L.-J., Han, W., McCreath, H., and Sun, B. C. (2011). Hospital determinants of emergency department left without being seen rates. Annals of emergency medicine, 58(1):24–32.
- Hui, M. K. and Zhou, L. (1996). How does waiting duration information influence customers' reactions to waiting for services? 1. Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 26(19):1702– 1717.
- Ibrahim, R. and Whitt, W. (2011). Wait-time predictors for customer service systems with time-varying demand and capacity. *Operations research*, 59(5):1106–1118.
- James, G., Witten, D., Hastie, T., and Tibshirani, R. (2013). Linear model selection and regularization. In An Introduction to Statistical Learning, pages 203–264. Springer.
- Joly, A., Schnitzler, F., Geurts, P., and Wehenkel, L. (2012). L1-based compression of random forest models. In 20th European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks.
- Jouini, O., Akşin, Z., and Dallery, Y. (2011). Call centers with delay information: Models and insights. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 13(4):534–548.



- Katsaliaki, K. and Mustafee, N. (2011). Applications of simulation within the healthcare context. Journal of the Operational Research Society, 62(8):1431–1451.
- Katz, K. L., Larson, B. M., and Larson, R. C. (1991). Prescription for the waiting-in-line blues: Entertain, enlighten, and engage. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 32(2):44.
- Kennedy, M., MacBean, C. E., Brand, C., Sundararajan, V., and McD Taylor, D. (2008). Review article: leaving the emergency department without being seen. *Emergency Medicine Australasia*, 20(4):306–313.
- LARSON, R. Q. (1987). Perspectives qn queues: Social justice and the psycholqgy of queueing.
- Lateef, F. et al. (2011). Patient expectations and the paradigm shift of care in emergency medicine. *Journal of emergencies, trauma, and shock*, 4(2):163.
- Li, L., Georgiou, A., Vecellio, E., Eigenstetter, A., Toouli, G., Wilson, R., and Westbrook,
 J. I. (2015). The effect of laboratory testing on emergency department length of stay:
 A multihospital longitudinal study applying a cross-classified random-effect modeling approach. Academic Emergency Medicine, 22(1):38–46.
- Lin, W. T. (1989). Modeling and forecasting hospital patient movements: Univariate and multiple time series approaches. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 5(2):195–208.
- Litvak, E., Long, M. C., Cooper, A. B., and McManus, M. L. (2001). Emergency department diversion: causes and solutions. Academic emergency medicine: official journal of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine, 8(11):1108.
- Lucas, R., Farley, H., Twanmoh, J., Urumov, A., Olsen, N., Evans, B., and Kabiri, H. (2009). Emergency department patient flow: the influence of hospital census variables on emergency department length of stay. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 16(7):597–602.
- Luo, W., Liberatore, M. J., Nydick, R. L., Chung, Q. B., and Sloane, E. (2004). Impact of process change on customer perception of waiting time: a field study. Omega, 32(1):77–83.



- Madsen, M., Kiuru, S., Castrèn, M., and Kurland, L. (2015). The level of evidence for emergency department performance indicators: systematic review. *European Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 22(5):298–305.
- Mak, S., Choy, L., and Ho, W. (2010). Quantile regression estimates of hong kong real estate prices. *Urban Studies*.
- Marco, C. A., Weiner, M., Ream, S. L., Lumbrezer, D., and Karanovic, D. (2010). Access to care among emergency department patients. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, pages emj– 2010.
- Martin, A. B., Hartman, M., Washington, B., Catlin, A., Team, N. H. E. A., et al. (2016). National health spending: Faster growth in 2015 as coverage expands and utilization increases. *Health Affairs*, pages 10–1377.
- McCaig, L. F. and Albert, M. (2014). Median emergency department (ed) wait and treatment times, by triage level-national hospital ambulatory medical care survey, united states, 2010-2011.
- McCarthy, M. L., Zeger, S. L., Ding, R., Levin, S. R., Desmond, J. S., Lee, J., and Aronsky,
 D. (2009). Crowding delays treatment and lengthens emergency department length of stay, even among high-acuity patients. *Annals of emergency medicine*, 54(4):492–503.
- McConnell, K. J., Richards, C. F., Daya, M., Weathers, C. C., and Lowe, R. A. (2006). Ambulance diversion and lost hospital revenues. Annals of emergency medicine, 48(6):702– 710.
- McCusker, J. and Verdon, J. (2006). Do geriatric interventions reduce emergency department visits? a systematic review. The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 61(1):53–62.
- McHugh, M., Neimeyer, J., Powell, E., Khare, R. K., and Adams, J. G. (2014). Is emergency department quality related to other hospital quality domains? *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 21(5):551–557.



- Miro, O., Sanchez, M., Espinosa, G., Coll-Vinent, B., Bragulat, E., and Milla, J. (2003). Analysis of patient flow in the emergency department and the effect of an extensive reorganisation. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 20(2):143–148.
- Monico, E. (2010). Is emtala that bad? Virtual Mentor, 12(6):471.
- Morganti, K. G., Bauhoff, S., Blanchard, J. C., Abir, M., and Iyer, N. (2013). *The evolving* role of emergency departments in the United States. Rand Corporation.
- Mowen, J. C., Licata, J. W., and McPhail, J. (1993). Waiting in the emergency room: how to improve patient satisfaction. *Marketing Health Services*, 13(2):26.
- Nagasako, E. M., Reidhead, M., Waterman, B., and Dunagan, W. C. (2014). Adding socioeconomic data to hospital readmissions calculations may produce more useful results. *Health Affairs*, 33(5):786–791.
- Nash, K., Zachariah, B., Nitschmann, J., and Psencik, B. (2007). Evaluation of the fast track unit of a university emergency department. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 33(1):14–20.
- Nie, W. (2000). Waiting: integrating social and psychological perspectives in operations management. Omega, 28(6):611–629.
- Nielsen, D. (2004). Improving ed patient satisfaction when triage nurses routinely communicate with patients as to reasons for waits: one rural hospital's experience. *Journal* of Emergency Nursing, 30(4):336–338.
- O'Brien, D., Williams, A., Blondell, K., and Jelinek, G. A. (2006). Impact of streaming. Australian Health Review, 30(4):525–532.
- of Emergency Physicians, A. C. et al. (2006). Public training in cardiopulmonary resuscitation and public access defibrillation. *Annals of emergency medicine*, 47(6):585.
- of Emergency Physicians, A. C. et al. (2012). Publishing wait times for emergency department care: an information paper. *Report, American College of Emergency Physicians, Baltimore.*



- Ogutu, J. O. and Piepho, H.-P. (2014). Regularized group regression methods for genomic prediction: Bridge, mcp, scad, group bridge, group lasso, sparse group lasso, group mcp and group scad. In *BMC proceedings*, volume 8, page S7. BioMed Central.
- Olshaker, J. S. and Rathlev, N. K. (2006). Emergency department overcrowding and ambulance diversion: the impact and potential solutions of extended boarding of admitted patients in the emergency department. *The Journal of emergency medicine*, 30(3):351– 356.
- Ospina, M. B., Bond, K., Schull, M., Innes, G., Blitz, S., and Rowe, B. H. (2007). Key indicators of overcrowding in canadian emergency departments: a delphi study. *Cjem*, 9(05):339–346.
- Pham, J. C., Patel, R., Millin, M. G., Kirsch, T. D., and Chanmugam, A. (2006). The effects of ambulance diversion: a comprehensive review. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 13(11):1220–1227.
- Pines, J. M., Iyer, S., Disbot, M., Hollander, J. E., Shofer, F. S., and Datner, E. M. (2008). The effect of emergency department crowding on patient satisfaction for admitted patients. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 15(9):825–831.
- Poole, S., Grannis, S., and Shah, N. H. (2016). Predicting emergency department visits. AMIA Summits on Translational Science Proceedings, 2016:438.
- Press, I. (2002). Patient satisfaction: Defining, measuring, and improving the experience of care. Health Administration Press.
- Quick, G. (1999). Time analysis of consult service emergency department admission process compared with emergency medicine service admission process. *The Journal of emergency medicine*, 17(5):815–822.
- Rae, R., Wilson, A., Brown, J., Higgins, A., and O'Neil, B. (2008). 224: Does providing patients with overestimates of anticipated waiting times improve perception of wait times in the emergency department? *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 52(4):S111.



80

- Richards, J. R., Navarro, M. L., and Derlet, R. W. (2000). Survey of directors of emergency departments in california on overcrowding. *The Western journal of medicine*, 172(6):385.
- Rowe, B. H., Channan, P., Bullard, M., Blitz, S., Saunders, L. D., Rosychuk, R. J., Lari, H., Craig, W. R., and Holroyd, B. R. (2006). Characteristics of patients who leave emergency departments without being seen. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 13(8):848–852.
- Ruger, J. P., Richter, C. J., Spitznagel, E. L., and Lewis, L. M. (2004). Analysis of costs, length of stay, and utilization of emergency department services by frequent users: implications for health policy. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 11(12):1311–1317.
- Saghafian, S., Hopp, W. J., Van Oyen, M. P., Desmond, J. S., and Kronick, S. L. (2012). Patient streaming as a mechanism for improving responsiveness in emergency departments. *Operations Research*, 60(5):1080–1097.
- Sanchez, M., Smally, A. J., Grant, R. J., and Jacobs, L. M. (2006). Effects of a fasttrack area on emergency department performance. *The Journal of emergency medicine*, 31(1):117–120.
- Schneider, S., Zwemer, F., Doniger, A., Dick, R., Czapranski, T., and Davis, E. (2001). Rochester, new york a decade of emergency department overcrowding. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 8(11):1044–1050.
- Schull, M. J., Kiss, A., and Szalai, J.-P. (2007). The effect of low-complexity patients on emergency department waiting times. Annals of emergency medicine, 49(3):257–264.
- Schull, M. J., Morrison, L. J., Vermeulen, M., and Redelmeier, D. A. (2003). Emergency department gridlock and out-of-hospital delays for cardiac patients. *Academic emergency medicine*, 10(7):709–716.
- Schull, M. J., Vermeulen, M., Slaughter, G., Morrison, L., and Daly, P. (2004). Emergency department crowding and thrombolysis delays in acute myocardial infarction. Annals of emergency medicine, 44(6):577–585.



- Schweigler, L. M., Desmond, J. S., McCarthy, M. L., Bukowski, K. J., Ionides, E. L., and Younger, J. G. (2009). Forecasting models of emergency department crowding. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 16(4):301–308.
- Shah, S., Patel, A., Rumoro, D. P., Hohmann, S., and Fullam, F. (2015). Managing patient expectations at emergency department triage. *Patient Experience Journal*, 2(2):31–44.
- Simaiakis, I. and Balakrishnan, H. (2015). A queuing model of the airport departure process. *Transportation Science*, 50(1):94–109.
- Smith, P. F., Ganesh, S., and Liu, P. (2013). A comparison of random forest regression and multiple linear regression for prediction in neuroscience. *Journal of neuroscience methods*, 220(1):85–91.
- Solberg, L. I., Asplin, B. R., Weinick, R. M., and Magid, D. J. (2003). Emergency department crowding: consensus development of potential measures. Annals of emergency medicine, 42(6):824–834.
- Soremekun, O. A., Takayesu, J. K., and Bohan, S. J. (2011). Framework for analyzing wait times and other factors that impact patient satisfaction in the emergency department. *The Journal of emergency medicine*, 41(6):686–692.
- Steele, R. and Kiss, A. (2008). Emdoc (emergency department overcrowding) internet-based safety net research. The Journal of emergency medicine, 35(1):101–107.
- Subash, F., Dunn, F., McNicholl, B., and Marlow, J. (2004). Team triage improves emergency department efficiency. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 21(5):542–544.
- Sun, Y., Heng, B. H., Seow, Y. T., and Seow, E. (2009). Forecasting daily attendances at an emergency department to aid resource planning. *BMC emergency medicine*, 9(1):1.
- Sun, Y., Teow, K. L., Heng, B. H., Ooi, C. K., and Tay, S. Y. (2012). Real-time prediction of waiting time in the emergency department, using quantile regression. *Annals of emergency medicine*, 60(3):299–308.



- Tandberg, D. and Qualls, C. (1994). Time series forecasts of emergency department patient volume, length of stay, and acuity. Annals of emergency medicine, 23(2):299–306.
- Taylor, D., Kennedy, M. P., Virtue, E., and McDonald, G. (2006). A multifaceted intervention improves patient satisfaction and perceptions of emergency department care. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 18(3):238–245.
- Terris, J., Leman, P., Oconnor, N., and Wood, R. (2004). Making an impact on emergency department flow: improving patient processing assisted by consultant at triage. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 21(5):537–541.
- Thiongane, M., Chan, W., and L'Ecuyer, P. (2015). Waiting time predictors for multi-skill call centers. In *Proceedings of the 2015 Winter Simulation Conference*, pages 3073–3084. IEEE Press.
- Thompson, D. A., Yarnold, P. R., Williams, D. R., and Adams, S. L. (1996). Effects of actual waiting time, perceived waiting time, information delivery, and expressive quality on patient satisfaction in the emergency department. *Annals of emergency medicine*, 28(6):657–665.
- Tibshirani, R. (1996). Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological)*, pages 267–288.
- Trout, A., Magnusson, A. R., and Hedges, J. R. (2000). Patient satisfaction investigations and the emergency department: what does the literature say? *Academic emergency medicine*, 7(6):695–709.
- Vass, H. and Szabo, Z. K. (2015). Application of queuing model to patient flow in emergency department. case study. *Proceedia Economics and Finance*, 32:479–487.
- Weiner, S. G. (2013). Advertising emergency department wait times. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine, 14(2).



- Weiss, S. J., Arndahl, J., Ernst, A. A., Derlet, R., Richards, J., and Nick, T. G. (2002). Development of a site sampling form for evaluation of ed overcrowding. *Medical Science Monitor*, 8(8):CR549–CR553.
- Weiss, S. J., Derlet, R., Arndahl, J., Ernst, A. A., Richards, J., Fernández-Frankelton, M., Schwab, R., Stair, T. O., Vicellio, P., Levy, D., et al. (2004). Estimating the degree of emergency department overcrowding in academic medical centers: results of the national ed overcrowding study (nedocs). Academic Emergency Medicine, 11(1):38–50.
- Weisstein, E. W. (2013). Moving average. MathWorld-A Wolfram Web Resource,[Online]. Available: http://mathworld.wolfram.com/MovingAverage.html.[Accessed 10 May 2013].
- Welch, S. J. (2009). Twenty years of patient satisfaction research applied to the emergency department: a qualitative review. American Journal of Medical Quality.
- Welch, S. J., Asplin, B. R., Stone-Griffith, S., Davidson, S. J., Augustine, J., Schuur, J., and Alliance, E. D. B. (2011). Emergency department operational metrics, measures and definitions: results of the second performance measures and benchmarking summit. *Annals* of emergency medicine, 58(1):33–40.
- Wenerstrom, B. (2009). Analysis of emergency room waiting time in sas. University of Louisville.
- Wiler, J. L., Bolandifar, E., Griffey, R. T., Poirier, R. F., and Olsen, T. (2013). An emergency department patient flow model based on queueing theory principles. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 20(9):939–946.
- Wilson, M. J. and Nguyen, K. (2004). Bursting at the seams: Improving patient flow to help america's emergency departments.
- Winston, W. L. and Goldberg, J. B. (2004). Operations research: applications and algorithms, volume 3. Duxbury press Boston.



- Wuerz, R. C., Milne, L. W., Eitel, D. R., Travers, D., and Gilboy, N. (2000). Reliability and validity of a new five-level triage instrument. Academic emergency medicine, 7(3):236–242.
- Xie, B. and Youash, S. (2011). The effects of publishing emergency department wait time on patient utilization patterns in a community with two emergency department sites: a retrospective, quasi-experiment design. *International journal of emergency medicine*, 4(1):29.
- Yancer, D. A., Foshee, D., Cole, H., Beauchamp, R., de la Pena, W., Keefe, T., Smith, W., Zimmerman, K., Lavine, M., and Toops, B. (2006). Managing capacity to reduce emergency department overcrowding and ambulance diversions. *The Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety*, 32(5):239–245.
- Yu, Q., Allon, G., and Bassamboo, A. (2016). How do delay announcements shape customer behavior? an empirical study. *Management Science*.
- Zhang, C. H. (2007). Penalized linear unbiased selection. Department of Statistics and Bioinformatics, Rutgers University, 3.
- Zhang, C.-H. et al. (2010). Nearly unbiased variable selection under minimax concave penalty. The Annals of statistics, 38(2):894–942.
- Zhang, Y., Nguyen, L. T., and Zhang, J. (2013). Wait time prediction: how to avoid waiting in lines? In Proceedings of the 2013 ACM conference on Pervasive and ubiquitous computing adjunct publication, pages 481–490. ACM.
- Zhou, P., Zheng, Y., and Li, M. (2012). How long to wait?: predicting bus arrival time with mobile phone based participatory sensing. In *Proceedings of the 10th international* conference on Mobile systems, applications, and services, pages 379–392. ACM.
- Zhu, X.-W., Xin, Y.-J., and Ge, H.-L. (2015). Recursive random forests enable better predictive performance and model interpretation than variable selection by lasso. *Journal* of chemical information and modeling, 55(4):736–746.



- Zibulewsky, J. (2001). The emergency medical treatment and active labor act (emtala): what it is and what it means for physicians. In *Baylor University Medical Center. Proceedings*, volume 14, page 339. Baylor University Medical Center.
- Zou, H. and Hastie, T. (2005). Regularization and variable selection via the elastic net. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology), 67(2):301– 320.



Appendix



Appendix A

Emergency Department process flow

A.1 Patient flow through ED



Figure A.1: Patient flow through ED



A.2 Data flow through ED



Figure A.2: Data flow through ED



Vita

Gajanan Arha was born on the 5th of April 1988; in Pali-Marwar, a small town in the western state of Rajasthan, India. In 2012, he completed his five-year dual degree in Electric and Electronics Engineering and Masters in Mathematics from Birla Institute of Technology and Science, Pilani. He spent the next two years working in the product management department of an organization in Hyderabad, India. In 2014, Gajanan joined the graduate program at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville in the Industrial and Systems Engineering Department to pursue his second Masters degree, where he accepted a graduate research assistantship in the Center for Advanced Systems Research and Education (CASRE) group. Currently, he is employed as a business analyst at Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota where he is working in outpatient practice optimization services and also working towards finishing his Masters Degree in Industrial Engineering. He will be graduating in May 2017.

